
Date Published: 2 March 2022     

Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Thursday 10 March 2022 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence Andrea Clarke

2  Declarations of interest 

Please see note (a) at the end of agenda.

3  Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 1 - 8) Andrea Clarke

4  Ofsted Inspection Update 

The committee to receive a verbal update from the Director of Children’s 
Services. 

Chris Spencer

5  Domestic Abuse (Pages 9 - 58)

The Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Strategy is attached to the agenda for 
information.

Andy Dempsey

6  School Exclusions - What is the picture in Gloucestershire (Pages 59 - 
78)

The Committee to understand the current position with regard to schools 
exclusions in Gloucestershire. 

Background Information:-
Ofsted Talks – School Exclusions and Alternative Provision Podcast 
(February 2022) available at this link 
https://ofstedtalks.podbean.com/e/school-exclusions-and-alternative-
provision/ 

The report from the task group commissioned by the committee in 2017 is 
available at this link 
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s45296/Permanent%20Ex
clusions%20Task%20Group%20Report%20May%202018.pdf. 

The Timpson Review of School Exclusions published in May 2019 is 

Kirsten Harrison

https://ofstedtalks.podbean.com/e/school-exclusions-and-alternative-provision/
https://ofstedtalks.podbean.com/e/school-exclusions-and-alternative-provision/
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s45296/Permanent%20Exclusions%20Task%20Group%20Report%20May%202018.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s45296/Permanent%20Exclusions%20Task%20Group%20Report%20May%202018.pdf


    

available at this link 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads
/attachment_data/file/807862/Timpson_review.pdf 

7  Gloucestershire Early Help (Pages 79 - 92)

The Gloucestershire Early Help: Overview of Provision 2021 document is 
attached to the agenda for information.

The outcome of the Ofsted Inspection will inform the provision of early help. 
The Government’s Independent Review of Children’s Social Care (due to be 
published in the next few weeks) may also inform on the structure and 
expected outcomes. 

The committee to receive a verbal update on the current position and 
consider how it would wish to receive future updates.

Andy Dempsey

8  Committee Workplan (Pages 93 - 96) Cllr Dr Andrew 
Miller, Andrea 
Griffiths

Membership – Cllr Linda Cohen, Cllr David Drew, Cllr Ben Evans (Vice-Chair), Cllr Nick Housden, 
Cllr Beki Hoyland, Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington, Cllr Dr Andrew Miller (Chairman) and 
Cllr Emma Nelson

Added Members - Charlotte Blanch (Clifton Diocese)

Co-Opted Member - Fiona Crouch and Ambassador for Vulnerable Children and Young People

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  Completing 
this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent members from 
declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list will be available 
for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Rob Ayliffe Tel: 01452 328506 e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.
 

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Clarke, Senior Democratic Services Adviser
:01452 324203/e-mail: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Will Members please sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see p88 of the 

Constitution).

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/807862/Timpson_review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/807862/Timpson_review.pdf
mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:Julie.hill2@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held remotely on Thursday 13 January 2022 commencing at 10.00 am.  

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Alastair Chambers
Cllr Linda Cohen
Fiona Crouch
Cllr David Drew
Cllr Ben Evans (Vice-
Chair)
Cllr Nick Housden

Cllr Beki Hoyland
Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller (Chairman)
Ambassador for Vulnerable Children & 
Young People
Cllr Susan Williams

Substitutes:

Apologies: Charlotte Blanch and Cllr Emma Nelson

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor Andrew Miller declared that he was in the process of applying to become 
a foster carer for the Authority.  

Councillor Ben Evans declared he was a Director of a non profit organisation, 
Chime.  

Councillor Nick Housden declared he was a Director of Bridge Youth Services.  

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

Resolved

That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 25th November 2021 were 
approved as a correct record. 

3. DOMESTIC VIOLENCE AND CHILDREN _WITHDRAWN 

The Committee were advised that the report had been withdrawn.

4. WIDENING PARTICIPATION - GLOUCESTERSHIRE GRAMMAR SCHOOLS 

4.1 Kirsten Harrison, Director of Education presented the report in detail and 
advised the Committee the report was in response to a request made at the 
September meeting to consider what options were available to engage high 
ability disadvantaged students and their parents in applying to the county’s 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

grammar schools as part of the Year 6 to Year 7 secondary transition 
arrangements.  

4.2 Members were advised that a collective group of Grammar Schools Head 
teachers, known as the G7 Group, were taking on the challenge of recruiting 
disadvantaged children to the grammar schools.  It was noted that a visits 
programme was in place and the grammar school Head teachers visited local 
primary schools in Years 5 & 6.  

4.3 The Committee also noted that a myth busting video would be released on the 
grammar schools’ websites, in an effort to raise awareness and increase 
engagement with parents.  Members requested that the video link be 
circulated for information when available. (Action – KH)

4.4 Members felt that preparing for the entrance test was a barrier.  The Director 
of Education explained the G7 had devised a bespoke pupil premium 
programme which would give disadvantaged children direct access to 
exemplar educational materials to assist them with preparing for the entrance 
test.  

4.5 The G7 group were focusing their attentions on building relationships with 
primary schools and offered training for staff.  There was a discussion as to 
whether any pressure could be applied by the LA. The Director of Education 
was clear that that would not be appropriate and stood outside of the LA’s role 
in the school admissions regulatory framework.

4.6 Some members felt that educational disadvantage started in early years and 
this was further compounded by transport and financial implications when 
considering grammar schools.  

4.7 During the discussion members questioned the high number of children from 
out of county that attended the grammar schools.  Members felt this prevented 
local children from accessing those school places and there was no longer a 
local cohort.  The Committee felt many of the children who passed the 
entrance tests had received coaching, which many disadvantaged families 
wouldn’t be able to afford.  

4.8 The Director of Education explained the grammar schools are single academy 
trusts and as a result their own Admissions Authorities. The LA was 
responsible for ensuring the SATs admissions policies are consistent with the 
School Admissions Code.  The grammar school admission policies  were 
consistent with the national school admissions policy and did not have 
catchment areas. GCC had no authority to make the schools take children 
from the local areas.  In terms of the numbers of local students attending, it 
was noted that grammar schools held that data.  The Committee noted that 
the Director of Education was working collaboratively with the G7 group.  

4.9 Some members felt that the majority of children who attended grammar 
schools had been coached and were from families who could afford the 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

additional tutoring. Unfortunately this was an uneven playing field for many 
disadvantaged children.  

4.10 The co-opted member informed the Committee that children were coached to 
pass the entrance test and many had shared tutoring sessions with friends.  
She proceeded to advise the Committee that much of the work had been done 
in the years before the transition phase and that involved a high level of 
parental engagement.  It was also noted that some children had been over 
coached and were unable to cope with the pressure in a grammar school 
environment.  Although she felt for those children who were naturally gifted, 
grammar schools provided the best education for them.  

4.11 The Director of Education informed the Committee that the G7 group had 
made changes to the entrance exam with a view to reducing the ability for 
children to be  coached for the entrance test.  

4.12 Members recognised there were other barriers to wider participation, as not all 
headteachers approved of the grammar school system, which could influence 
student and parent awareness  of the grammar schools further acting as a 
barrier to  disadvantaged children being aware of the possibility to apply.  In 
addition, the Committee felt that the costs of attending a grammar school were 
significantly more expensive, and wondered how disadvantaged families could 
be supported.  The Director of Education explained that G7 Heads met with 
Primary Heads and Governors in an effort to overcome any issues.  In relation 
to Pupil Premium it was noted this was paid directly to the school and the 
school managed these funds, which were usually used for uniform support 
and extra curricular activities to ensure disadvantaged children had the same 
opportunities.  

4.13 During the discussion, it was noted in Gloucestershire, Grammar Schools 
weren’t based in rural areas and the distance was a barrier to many children, 
as they would have to leave home very early in the morning and wouldn’t 
return home till late and would then have homework to do at night. It was 
explained that was a parental consideration when deciding on secondary 
education.   In response to a question, it was noted that grammar school 
transport was a private arrangement between a transport contractor and the 
parent if the student was not eligible for home to school transport support .  

4.14 In response to a question, it was explained that grammar schools were 
academies and the majority owned their own land, buildings, etc.  The Chair 
declared he was a trustee of Gloucester United Schools (GUS) who owned 
land that Crypt and other grammar schools operated on.  

4.15 Members wished to know if poor behaviour at primary school would affect a 
child’s eligibility to gain a grammar school place.  The Committee were 
advised that the entrance test alone was the deciding factor and the grammar 
school would have to cater to any child’s individual needs.  

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

4.16 The Director of Children’s Services referred to the Crawford Report, which 
detailed the impact of grammar schools on society.  He recognised that many 
children were prepared early to compete in the grammar school environment 
and a lot of the testing was heavily enriched with language that focused on 
middle class families.  It was recognised as a key point if all schools offered 
good education, why would parents and children consider grammar schools, 
as comprehensive schools generally offered a far wider and more rounded 
education.  

4.17 The Committee were advised that the Regional Commissioner’s Academy 
Board had recently  matched a converting primary school with a grammar 
school. Some grammar schools were already agreed sponsors with the 
Regional Commissioner’s office.  During the discussion, it was noted that the 
Crypt Grammar School had been put forward as an appropriate sponsor for a 
new primary school in a disadvantaged local area.   

4.18 It was recognised that not everyone has a fair chance in today’s society and it 
was suggested that Head teachers of grammar and comprehensive schools 
should work together  in order to increase standards.  

4.19 The Director of Education reiterated that GCC didn’t have any influence over 
primary schools and it was not appropriate for GCC to favour any one type of 
education setting.  GCC had a duty to remain neutral in accordance with its 
statutory role.  

4.20 A member highlighted the fact that parental engagement was not always 
possible, as some parents of disadvantaged children don’t engage with 
schools.  It was necessary to be realistic if that engagement didn’t exist and it 
was essential to offer good local education in all schools in order to benefit all 
children

5. ACCELERATED IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

5.1 The Director of Children’s Services (DCS) presented the report in detail 
which highlighted pressures within the service.  It was noted there was an 
increased proportion of inadequate practice, this was detailed on page 36 of 
the report.  The number of inadequate audits had increased to 24% in 
October 2021, compared to 8% inadequate audits in August 2021.  It was 
noted that the figures for November/December were yet to be moderated but 
the DCS recognised that it was an area of concern which would be closely 
monitored.    

5.2 During the discussion, it was remarked that the performance journey 
appeared to be plateauing, which was a cause for concern at this stage.  The 
DCS suggested that the service was in the middle of a “perfect storm” in 
terms of the running of services, however the biggest area of concern related 
to staffing and the need to stabilise the workforce.  It was evident that the 
staffing market had changed since September 2021 and staff had 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

reappraised their lifestyles and no longer wanted to spend time travelling 
vast distances to work, hence the upturn in staff numbers.  

5.3 It was noted prior to Christmas there were currently 44 vacancies, which had 
obviously put a strain on case loads and the remaining staff were carrying 
heavier work loads.  In order to attract staff to the service, uplift had been 
agreed for agency and permanent staff and overtime payments were now 
being paid for hard to recruit to posts.  As a result of the uplift the number of 
vacancies currently stood at 20.  

5.4 It was evident that workflow and challenges were now increasing, as the 
number of violent incidents, young people suicides, etc., locally had 
increased, which further impacted on the provision of services and on staff.  
In addition there were now three migrant hotels in Gloucester and those 
families  and lone children required support, these additional factors had put 
a significant strain on the service.  

5.5 Members felt the reports were honest and gave a true reflection of the 
service issues and the challenges faced by staff, as such members felt staff 
should be applauded on their efforts in the face of adversity.  

5.6 In response to a question, it was explained that keeping records and 
ensuring agency staff notes were recorded accurately was a frontline issue.  
The DCS explained it was important to revert to basics at this present time 
and it was a question of priorities, while ensuring that visits were completed 
on time, children were seen and the details were properly recorded on the 
system. 

5.7 The Committee felt the uncertainty of the Ofsted Inspection continued to 
cause difficulties for the service.  In response to a question, it was noted that 
it was nearly five years since the inspection had taken place.  Members 
hoped that Ofsted would carry out their inspection sooner rather than later, 
as they felt the delay continued to have a detrimental impact on the service 
and staff morale.

5.8 In response to a question it was noted that neighbouring authorities had a 
smaller number of staffing vacancies.  The DCS advised members that all 
levels of staff were under pressure, however they continued to work hard 
and maintained their professionalism.   The Committee recognised and 
valued the efforts made and the challenges within the system.  

5.9 The DCS explained that agencies received a fee for providing agency staff to 
other Counties, which compounded the situation locally.  In addition, many 
permanent staff had realised there was a greater pay incentive to become 
agency staff rather than remain in permanent employment.  It was noted 
there were good scheme incentives and training development available in 
Gloucestershire. 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

5.10 The Committee were advised that the grow your own social worker 
programme had been devised in association with the local universities.  The 
recruitment of student placements contributed to the lessening of agency 
staff.  It was noted that staff had been recruited from the overseas market.  
The service was also being more selective in its appointment of staff to 
ensure a quality service was provided.  It was suggested that perhaps the 
Local Government Pension Scheme could be an incentive to recruit staff.

5.11 In relation to staff performance, the committee noted that staff with 
symptomatic Covid symptoms had continued to work at home while isolating.  
It was evident there were a high number of vacancies in the safeguarding 
team, this was due to the specialist nature of the work and the demand on 
the service.  Members welcomed the report findings and acknowledged how 
committed staff were to the service.  

5.12 Members were concerned that performance was regressing slightly but they 
accepted the reasons given at this stage.  It was noted that family resilience 
had declined during Covid and this was reflected in the high number of 
children in care in the County.  

5.13 The DCS advised the committee that it was essential the service held its 
nerve and continued to make sure children were visited and were seen to be 
safe.  It was essential to focus on the basics in order to continue the 
improvement journey, which was an ongoing process.  Members were 
reminded that the Chair of the Improvement Board had the right experience 
to assist the Authority in its journey.

5.14 In response to a question, it was explained that exit interviews were 
undertaken.  It was recognised that many staff had left the service due the 
reappraisal of their lifestyles during the pandemic.  The DCS informed the 
Committee there was a policy of not re-employing permanent staff who left to 
go agency employment.  Although some staff who left for different reasons, 
often came back to the Authority.

6. PERFORMANCE REPORT 

6.1 The Director of Partnerships and Strategy presented the report and drew 
member’s attention to the performance indicators and explained that the 
offers to stabilise the workforce would evidently show in the 
December/January data.  

6.2 Officers found themselves in a difficult position of having to balance 
bureaucracy and work loads in order to deliver the performance targets.  In 
response to a question regarding ES.17, it was explained that the neglect 
tool kit was a useful and was regularly reviewed and shared with partner 
agencies.  The Young Ambassador for Vulnerable Children and Young 
People offered to assist officers with the neglect tool kit.  

7. QUALITY ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

7.1 Rob England, Head of Quality presented the report in detail, during the 
discussion it was noted that the less resilient teams at risk of vulnerability 
were receiving support.  

7.2 Members referred to the recent murders of young people in the County and 
felt that these cases didn’t end with a court case and they wondered what 
additional support had been put in place to support the families.  The DCS 
explained when events of such magnitude occurred it caused a ripple effect.  
The first point of support was for the family of the victim and secondly school 
support to assist their friends and peers.  It was noted that a rapid response 
approach was undertaken and educational psychologists were on hand to 
provide support and advice if required.  In addition the implications for the 
local community were also considered and assistance was provided.  

7.3 In response to a question, it was explained that audit completions depended 
on system pressures.  The Head of Quality explained that the gap wasn’t 
necessarily an area of concern at this stage.  

8. REVENUE MONITORING REPORT 

8.1 Suzanne Hall, Finance Business Partner presented the report.  It was noted 
there was a £17.328m overspend, of which £9.026m related to Covid, which 
gave a net position of approximately £8.302m.  Members were advised of 
the key points in relation to budget pressures, which included external 
placements, which is the significant element, the cost of safeguarding staff, 
SEN in relation to EHCP plans and home to school transport.  

8.2 Members questioned the increased costs, it was explained that there were a 
number of strategies now in place to help control the budget implications.  In 
response to a question relating to rising energy costs, it was noted that 
schools were responsible for their own budgets.  

8.3 It was noted that early help was hugely important if under resourced, officers 
appreciated this point and confirmed that if it was possible to intervene early 
it could prevent spend later on.  The newly established family hubs would 
provide advice and support for 0-25 year olds and were developed in 
association with Child Friendly Gloucestershire.  The Committee welcomed 
this approach and initiative.  

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.58 pm

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



1
January 2022

Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee Briefing Paper

Domestic Abuse and Children 

1.0 Introduction

The Director of Children’s Services commissioned a report on behalf of 
CFOSG members. This report follows a unanimous motion to prioritise work 
on domestic abuse.  

Recognising that a previous report to Scrutiny gave a comprehensive 
overview of domestic abuse services, this report highlights the learning from 
Domestic Homicide Reviews, involving Children’s Services.  It provides a brief 
update on activities carried out as a response to the findings and highlights 
wider practice development as informed by the learning from recent Domestic 
Homicide Reviews.

The report reinforces the importance of pursuing current activities, makes 
recommendations for further work on supporting children and families 
subjected to domestic abuse.

Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs) provide an important insight into the 
most severe and complex aspects of abuse, when a domestic abuse victim 
takes their own life by suicide or is murdered by the perpetrator. The reviews 
are in depth and challenging processes and aim to explore all aspects of 
domestic abuse suffered by the victim, alongside the single and multi-agency 
responses. The Panels, which are usually chaired by an independent person, 
provide the opportunity for professional challenge and curiosity around their 
involvement with the victim and what can be learnt from what happened. The 
reviews provide an opportunity for learning by the local partnership. The report 
is published by the Home Office and therefore provides for national learning. 

2.0 Context - Domestic Homicide Reviews.

Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs) were established on a statutory basis 
under section 9 of the Domestic Violence, Crime and Victims Act (2004). The 
Community Safety Partnership (CSP) is legally obligated to undertake a 
review of all deaths which are a result of domestic homicide cases or in cases 
of suicide where there is a known history of domestic abuse within the District 
in Gloucestershire. 

Domestic homicide review ((DHR) means a review of the circumstances in 
which the death of a person aged 16 or over has, or appears to have, resulted 
from violence, abuse or neglect by 

(a) a person to whom he was related or with whom he was or had been in 
an intimate personal relationship, or 

(b) a member of the same household as himself, held with a view to 
identifying the lessons to be learnt from the death. DHR is not a 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



2
January 2022

disciplinary or a criminal process but aims to learn from what happened 
in order to improve practice to protect victims and work with 
perpetrators of Domestic Abuse.

The 2016 guidance is clear that reviews should not simply examine the 
conduct of professionals and agencies. Reviews should be “professionally 
curious” and find the “trail of abuse”.  The narrative of each review should 
“articulate the life through the eyes of the victim (and their children)”. (Par 8, 
2016)

“The key is situating the review in the home, family and community of the 
victim and exploring everything with an open mind”. (Par 9,2016) 

The role of Gloucestershire Children’s Social Care in DHRs is to provide a 
detailed and professionally curious Independent Management Review (IMR) 
about the work that was carried out with the children, victim and perpetrator. 
For the purpose of DHRs the primary interest is in the work carried out with 
the victim or perpetrator as well as a report about the safeguarding and care 
work carried out with the children in the family home. For Gloucestershire 
Children’s Social Care, this highlights and places an emphasis on work 
carried out with parents who are victims or perpetrators of Domestic Abuse. 

The author of this report has acted as the lead for a number of recent 
Domestic Homicide Reviews and represents Gloucestershire Children’s Social 
Care on the panel, working closely with the Director of Partnerships and 
Strategy.  This involves the completion of Independent Management Reviews, 
chronologies and oversight of final reports on behalf of Children’s Services 
prior to final submission. She is also a reviewer for the National Child 
Safeguarding Panel practice review pool of reviewers/experts in the 
Department of Education. 

3.0 Overview of Domestic Homicide Reviews

3.1 DHR Scott. This DHR was published in September 2021

The following pseudonyms have been used in this review for the victim and 
perpetrator to protect their identities and those of their family members:

(a) The victim: Scott
(b) The perpetrator: Jenny

In April 2018, emergency services received a phone call from Jenny stating 
that an unknown male had come into the flat and stabbed Scott in the 
stomach. Police and ambulance attended. Scott was seriously injured and 
taken to Southmead Hospital where his death was pronounced early the 
following morning. 

The post-mortem concluded that the cause of death was a single puncture 
wound to the abdominal aorta. Jenny was charged with murder.

Page 10



3
January 2022

The original trial started in October 2018, but collapsed when the jury could 
not reach a conclusion. The second trial started at the end of March 2019. 
Jenny was found guilty of manslaughter and sentenced to 9 years.

The areas of good practice were:

 Jenny’s unborn child was safeguarded. 
 Effective pre-birth work also enabled the baby to be taken into care and 

safeguarded in a timely manner.
 The mother was supported with domestic abuse work. 

3.2 Areas to improve

 Learning about how to support male victims of domestic abuse. This is 
important because males are less likely to report abuse and access 
support. 

 There is learning for the wider partnership about how to support 
couples with many different needs – domestic abuse, substance 
misuse, homelessness, offending and anti-social behaviour and mental 
health.

 The potential for women to present as a risk to their partners and how 
agencies work together to understand this and support victims. 

 The impact of successive child removals on the mental health of 
mothers and how agencies work together to provide support and 
trauma informed counselling. 

4.0 DHR and SCR 

(The family have requested that the review use the actual names, therefore in 
this report they are not named). 

A mother and her daughter were murdered by their husband and step-father. 
It was agreed that the Serious Case Review (for the child) which would be 
carried out by the local child safeguarding partnership would be merged with 
the DHR commissioned by Gloucester Community Safety Partnership. 

The joint report is due to be published in Mid-January. There was minimum 
prior involvement by Children’s Social Care with the victims. However, there 
are lessons to be learnt from work carried out with the family on Domestic 
Abuse after the tragedy, particularly as they are providing care for the 
surviving children. This is referred to in the lessons learnt section of this 
report. 

There was minimum social work involvement with this family.

Page 11



4
January 2022

However, there are lessons to be learnt about the voice of the child in an 
abusive household. That is, seeing children alone and understanding what is 
happening for them. Listening to children requires more than ‘what they say to 
professionals’. 

5.0 DHRs in progress 

There are other three DHRs in progress. They are at an early stages of 
completion. They all involve death by suicide and (the victims directly and/or 
their children) were known to Children’s Social Care. The review of the work 
carried out with the families has yet to be completed. At these early stages of 
review, it is evident that the themes highlighted in this report are also likely to 
be found in the Independent Management Reviews and final reports when 
completed. 

6.0 Key Themes for Practice Development and Learning

6.1 Learning from Domestic Homicide Reviews

Progress has been made to follow up on the findings of the Domestic 
Homicide Reviews as soon as the Independent Management Reviews were 
completed. Therefore, learning has been implemented as part of the wider 
improvement journey. However, further work is required to follow up and 
develop the positive foundations that have been put in place:

 Analysis of the impact of Covid on the prevalent and types of Domestic 
Abuse 

 Increase in the number of the Social Workers attending the Domestic 
Abuse Essentials Training.

 Review and audit the impact of the training on practice with children 
and families.

 Review and assess the impact of multi-agency training GSCP.
 Further work on the impact of recurrent removals on mothers and 
fathers and a range of support including the vulnerable women’s 
project.
 The implementation of the Barnardos matrix to assess the impact of 

domestic abuse on children and children’s assessments and plans to 
reflect this.

MASH morning meetings to be revised and include more information to make 
better judgements.

6.2 Key Learning Themes

6.2.1 Voice of the child and lived experience. 

 The primary children’s social work task is to ensure that children are 
safeguarded. Social workers assess children’s needs and protect 
through a robust child in need or child protection plan or remove them 

Page 12



5
January 2022

from the care of their parents, if all other avenues have been explored 
and are not safe.

 Therefore, work with adult victims of domestic abuse is generally 
delivered via   other agencies. Where social work practice is good, the 
parents will be referred to those specialist services for example 
GDASS, whenever appropriate. The Scott review found that the unborn 
and later baby was safeguarded. However, further work could have 
been carried out with both parents on their complex needs. 

 DHRs have highlighted the need to ensure children are seen alone and 
away from the family in order to hear their voice and better understand 
their lived experience. 

6.2.2 Social Workers supported to be assertive and creative in engaging 
victims of domestic abuse.

 Research indicates that the most dangerous time for a victim of 
domestic abuse is when they are about to or considering leaving the 
abusive partner. Most victims know this, and many social workers work 
very creatively with victims and some need training and support to do 
so. 

 DHRs highlighted the need for training for social workers to be more 
assertive and creative in their response to victims of domestic abuse. 
Victims are either not ready to leave or too afraid to disclose abuse 
because of the likely consequences for them and their children.  

6.2.3 Male Victims

 As the members motion indicates, the vast majority of victims of 
domestic abuse are women. However, the potential for abuse within 
same sex relationships and men as victims within mixed is important. 

 One of the DHR reviews was on a male victim, (he was also a 
perpetrator of domestic abuse). The learning for the service from this 
DHR was to ensure that the situation of male victims is explored. 

 As male victims are often even more reluctant to disclose domestic 
abuse, the need for social workers to be creative and assertive to 
engage them is important. 

 The Scott DHR found that professionals need to source support for 
male victims and use their skills to provide confidence to male victims 
to discuss the abuse they have suffered. 

 Gloucestershire has a range of services for male victims and 
perpetrators of domestic abuse. 

Page 13



6
January 2022

7.0 Single and Multi-Agency Response 

7.1 Training Children’s Social Care 

 Based on findings from DHRs and other quality assurance activities, 
the CSC Social Work Academy has developed and delivered a new 
Essentials 3.0 thematic programme.  The Essentials 3.0 modules 
include Relational Practice, Domestic Abuse, and Ability to Change.  
They are a specific response to the learning from recent DHRs.

 The modules are built on the Essentials 2.0 risk principles and are 
underpinned by the successful methodology used in the development 
and delivery of Essentials 2.0.  That is, short sessions which enable 
staff to reflect on key principles of practice and on their own work in 
relation to these principles.

 Whilst still early in the implementation of the Essentials 3.0 DA 
programme, 24 staff have enrolled in this, with 10 (42%) having 
completed thus far.  At this stage, it is too early to evidence the 
translation of the learning to practice but feedback on the content has 
been positive to date. Further work is required to roll out to a wider 
cohort.

7.2 Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children’s Partnership Training 

The GSCP have been delivering a programme of face 2 face Domestic Abuse 
(DA) training and DA Practitioner Workshops for a number of years up to 
March 2020 

 Two-day Domestic Abuse Part 1 & 2 – Dynamics of DA and Impact on 
Children: (approximately: 130 attendees per year)

 One-day Domestic Abuse Part 3 – (Understanding Risk and working 
with Perpetrators: (approximately: 80 per year)

 Practitioner Workshops; Understanding Risk and Safelives DASH 
(Adults and YP risk assessment Tool): 6 x Half day sessions – 
(approximately: 500 per year)

 Since July 2020 we moved to the on-line virtual platform and are 
currently delivering DA E-learning and on-line live webinars

 Domestic Abuse and Intimate Violence – E-learning: 
 July 2020 -  Dec 2021 Number of Participants:  
 958 - completed in Full / 42 -  In progress / 83 - signed up not 
started
 Domestic Abuse Webinars: 45 min sessions (promoted to partners via 

the Newsletter, Alerts and Heads Up systems)

7.3 Domestic Abuse GSCP Courses and themes. 

Page 14



7
January 2022

 Part 1 – Understanding DA, Abusive relationships, Key Risks, 
Screening and Learning form reviews and DHR’s (Nov 2020 – Linked 
to the 16 Days of DA Action)

 Part 2 – Refresh on DA and Impact of DA, ACE’s, Resilience Learning 
from Reviews. (Jan 2021- as above)

 Understanding Domestic Abuse and Coercive Control in Practice: 1 
hour (Oct 2021 Targeted to CAMHS CLDT)

 This session is being re-recorded to use as an additional resource to 
send out to All Partners – Early 2022

 In November 2020 and 2021 – The ‘16 Days of DA Action’ Campaign 
promoted via GSCP Newsletter as DA Campaign Feature (promoting 
Events, Training, links to Take a stand website etc.)

 In 2022 the GSCP DA courses (Part 1,2 and 3), are being reviewed as 
part of the work of the Quality Assurance Reference Group reporting to 
the GSCP Quality Assurance Group, to develop as virtual training 
courses, as part of the GSCP training curriculum.

The partnership training is available to social workers and provides an 
opportunity for the wider partnership to have a shared understanding of 
Domestic Abuse and to work together to support victims and encourage 
perpetrators to access relevant support. 

7.4 Recurrent Removals 

A key feature of Domestic Homicide Reviews is that of ‘recurrent removals’. 
Mothers who have had recurrent removals of children from their care into the 
care system face on going trauma and loss. This is also a factor in women 
who have taken their lives through suicide and potentially in the Scott DHR. 
 
During the completion of the Scott review, work started on researching the 
impact of recurrent removals with Gloucestershire University and a paper was 
produced to understand the impact of recurrent removals and a review of 
practice about ‘what works’ in response to this need.

Different options are being considered to support women.  Children’s 
Commissioning has developed a vulnerable women’s project which provides 
support to women who have been or are victims of domestic abuse and have 
had children removed from their care or are at risk of having children removed 
from their care.  The outcomes, impact and cost of this project is set out in 
below

In the new year further, work is planned to pursue a longer-term approach to 
supporting mothers and fathers who have experienced recurrent removals of 
children from their care. 

8.0 Conclusions  

Domestic Homicide Reviews explore the most severe and complex outcomes 
of Domestic Abuse. They involve high levels of risk for children and most often 
women, but also male victims. Gloucestershire Children’s Social Care has 

Page 15



8
January 2022

been an active participant in a number of DHRs and made progress in 
implementing the findings. There is further work to be carried out to engage 
more social workers in the Domestic Abuse Essentials Training. This will 
provide good foundation for work with Domestic Abuse. Support for 
perpetrators is equally important, as is the confidence of social workers to 
discuss Domestic Abuse with victims who for understandable reasons do not 
feel safe and confident in disclosing to professionals with whom they may 
have had little or no prior involvement.

For the children who live in abusive homes, the impact is significant and has 
long term consequences. Therefore, every visit to every family where 
domestic abuse exists is an opportunity to improve outcomes for children and 
victims living in abusive relationships. The ambition for Gloucestershire 
Children’s Social Care, particularly through the Essentials programme, is to 
equip social workers to take that opportunity to improve outcomes for the child 
and victim and to provide perpetrators with relevant services to address the 
abuse.

Page 16



9
January 2022

APPENDIX 1

Vulnerable Women’s Project – Outcomes, impact and costs. 

During the pandemic the Nelson Trust projects have proved invaluable in supporting women with 
multiple and complex needs,

 It has been agreed that the following services will be extended into the 2022/2023 financial year: 
Complex Needs Project (Vulnerable Women’s Service), Change Team, Sex Worker Outreach 
Project (SWOP). 

All of these services are able to support women who have experienced domestic abuse and have or 
are likely to have children removed from their care.

Please note: Children’s Services part-funds the Complex Needs Project at present and will be part-
funding the Change Team in 2022/2023, the SWOP is currently funded by Public Health. 

The Nelson Trust have undertaken a cost-benefit analysis of the Complex Needs Project, with 
Women whose Children are known to Children’s Services: *
Cost benefit analysis      Costs                   Savings Cost vs benefit
Woman A                         £62,693              £58,693              -£4,000
Woman B                         £44,261              £58,693              £14,432
Woman C                         £11,342              £58,693              £47,351
Total Costs                       £118,296            £176,079            £57,783

Woman A who had experienced domestic abuse and has been through pre-birth proceedings to 
keep her baby, she went into a mother and baby placement for 6 months, and she has now been 
independently living with the baby for over 6 months. The social care costs and estimated savings 
incurred for this woman show that costs were £4,000 higher than the first year of baby’s life 
estimated savings. However, there are future savings if the child remains with mum for years to 
come which cannot be calculated at present. The emotional impact of keeping mum & baby together 
can help break the intergenerational cycle of trauma.  

Woman B was through pre-birth proceedings.  Together with her baby, she stayed with her mother 
throughout proceedings and at the end was able to keep her baby and regain custody of an older 
child. The social care costs and estimated savings incurred for this woman are estimated as, 
£14,432 saved on the first year of baby’s life. 
 
Woman C was able to regain custody of one of her children who was staying with a family member 
during engagement with the project. The social care costs and estimated savings incurred for this 
woman are estimated to be £47,351, saved if the child would have been adopted instead of staying 
with mum.
Overall, the social care savings for the three women for one year is estimated as £57,783.

*All cost savings research and analysis has been undertaken solely by the Nelson Trust. 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



2
0

2
1/

2
4

DOMESTIC 
ABUSE  
 STRATEGY

GLOUCESTERSHIRE

2021/24

P
age 19



SUPPORTING 
PARTNERS

P
age 20



C
O

N
T

E
N

T
S

This document contains live links to 
online documents. When you see this 
symbol it means there’s an active link 
you can click on.

3GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

CONTENTS
1. Foreword

2. Introduction 

3. Gloucestershire’s Vision for Domestic Abuse

4. Our Priorities

5. Public Health Approach

6. Background to Domestic Abuse

7. Domestic Abuse in Gloucestershire

8. Voice of the Victim / Survivor

9. Commissioning Context

10. Policy Context

11. Planned Review of the DA Strategy

12. Case Studies

4

5

6

7

17

19

21

29

30

34

36

37

P
age 21



More than 2.3 million people a year in England and 
Wales experience domestic abuse1.Those people are 
from every gender, ethnicity, age, sexuality, religion and socio- 
economic background. It affects health, wellbeing and life- 
chances of the whole family. 

That’s why prevention and responses have to recognise not 
just immediate impacts, but long term consequences too. 

In Gloucestershire we have many different services, both 
statutory and voluntary, who work to support families and 
individuals affected by domestic abuse. They are experts 
who engage with the complex and often chronic nature of 
domestic abuse and work together to challenge it. The new 
Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Board (DA 
LPB) will strengthen and coordinate our responses across 
our services so that victims/ survivors get the best and most 
appropriate support possible. This partnership approach will 
ensure that those at risk of, or experiencing domestic abuse 
in Gloucestershire, have the support and services that they 
need, when they need them.

FOREWORD
Our vision is that no-one in Gloucestershire should experience 
domestic abuse, and through this strategy and its clear 
commitments, we will work together to prevent abuse from 
happening, to strengthen our services and to make sure we 
learn from the latest research and best practice.

This strategy builds on the work already done in our 
County through the Domestic Abuse and Sexual violence 
commissioning strategy and could not have been developed 
without the hard work of the County’s Domestic Abuse 
Commissioning team and the support of the DA LPB. 

No one organisation has the key to taking effective action 
against Domestic Abuse. Put simply; domestic abuse is 
everyone’s problem, and that’s what this strategy is designed 
to make clear. For my organisation’s part, focusing on 
vulnerability and victimisation and tackling hidden harms is a 
priority in Gloucestershire’s new Police and Crime Prevention 
Plan, and by taking a collaborative approach to developing 
and delivering on our commitments in this strategy, we can 
tackle domestic abuse in the most effective way. We want 

01

1 Domestic abuse prevalence and trends, England and Wales -  
Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk) year ending March 2020

to make it clear that we do not accept domestic abuse in 
our County and I also would like to see not only statutory 
partners, but other organisations across the county signing 
up to a Charter agreement to take action on domestic abuse 
including equipping themselves with the tools they need to 
care for employees and clients experiencing abuse and to 
educate perpetrators to help them to stop.  

Successful delivery of this strategy requires strong 
leadership, commitment and engagement from all partners 
in Gloucestershire. By working together, with a clear vision, 
we can create lasting change that will make our community a 
safer place to live.

NICK EVANS 
DEPUTY POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE

OCTOBER 2021

4GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

FOREWORD

P
age 22

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabuseprevalenceandtrendsenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2020


The Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Strategy 
2021-2024 continues to prioritise domestic abuse 
and builds on the achievements of Gloucestershire’s 
multi-agency response and strategic approach 
which has been in place since 2014. 

Gloucestershire recognises the continued high prevalence 
of domestic abuse, despite its underreporting, and the 
devastating impact it has on the individual, their family, 
community and wider society. There is a continued 
commitment to work together from statutory partners and 
the wider community and voluntary sector which upholds the 
principles of a coordinated community response to tackling 
domestic abuse. 

The development of this strategy reflects our local 
commitment to ensuring an ongoing robust response to 
domestic abuse, and fulfils the statutory requirement set out 
in the Domestic Abuse Act 20212. This statutory duty requires 
all local authorities to develop a strategy that outlines their 
local response to providing support within domestic abuse 
safe accommodation. The Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse 
Local Partnership Board (DA LPB) has requested that this 
strategy also considers a wider response to domestic abuse, 
ensuring the needs of all victims/survivors of domestic abuse 
and their families, both within safe accommodation and within 
the community, are considered. 

INTRODUCTION
The scope of this strategy will consider domestic abuse for 
victims aged 16 and over and the wider areas of abuse that fall 
under the new statutory definition of domestic abuse, including:

02

Locally we recognise the gendered nature of these crimes 
in line with the Government response to tackling Violence 
Against Women and Girls (VAWG). We do however ensure 
our local response to domestic abuse is accessible to all 
regardless of gender and other protected characteristics. 

This strategy has been produced by the Gloucestershire DA 
LPB. All agencies represented on the board had input into 
the co-production of the strategy and it is informed by service 
user and community engagement activity and the domestic 
abuse needs assessment 2021. 

The Gloucestershire DA LPB was established in 2021 in 
response to the Domestic Abuse Act 2021. The DA LPB 
consists of three tiers; LPB Strategic Group, LPB Operational 
Group and LPB Consultation Group; each with their own set 
of aims and objectives to drive forward the Gloucestershire 
approach to tackling domestic abuse. The role of the DA 
LPB is to oversee all activity in relation to the development, 
implementation and review of the domestic abuse strategy 
for Gloucestershire. For governance processes, the DA LPB 
reports into Safer Gloucestershire and also links to the Health 
and Wellbeing Board and Safeguarding Boards for Children 
and Adults. 

DELIVERING  
THE STRATEGY
To accompany this strategy there will be a delivery plan that 
supports the implementation of our vision, priorities and 
objectives. The Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse LPB will be 
responsible for producing a dynamic and evolving delivery 
plan which will evidence our activity and progress in meeting 
our strategic objectives and the impact being made on the 
needs identified in the Domestic Abuse Needs Assessment 
2021. The Gloucestershire DA LPB will be responsible for 
agreeing the prioritisation and setting of timescales for the 
activity within the delivery plan. The plan will be closely 
monitored through the DA LPB governance structure. 

DOMESTIC ABUSE

+  STALKING (BOTH WITHIN & OUTSIDE 
OF THE CONTEXT OF DA) 

+ HONOUR BASED VIOLENCE (HBV)

+ FORCED MARRIAGE (FM)

+ CHILD TO PARENT ABUSE (CPA) 

2 Domestic Abuse Act 2021 (legislation.gov.uk)

INTRODUCTION

5GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

P
age 23

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/contents


GLOUCESTERSHIRE’S 
VISION FOR 
DOMESTIC ABUSE 

OUR PRINCIPLES

WE WILL RESPOND 
TO OUR LOCAL NEED BASED ON A 
NEEDS ASSESSMENT & LESSONS LEARNT 
FROM DOMESTIC HOMICIDE REVIEWS

01

WE WILL ENSURE 
THE VOICE OF THE VICTIM IS AT THE 
HEART OF OUR RESPONSE

02

WE WILL WORK COLLABORATIVELY 
TO PROMOTE A CONSISTENT RESPONSE 
TO DOMESTIC ABUSE ACROSS OUR 
AGENCIES & COMMUNITIES

03

03

OUR VISION
For Gloucestershire to be a county where domestic abuse is not tolerated 
and everybody can live free from abuse and harm, where healthy 
relationships are the norm and where victims/ survivors and their children 
have access to the right support at the right time.  

For domestic abuse to be everybody’s business, where a collaborative 
approach creates lasting change across our systems and communities, 
where the voice of the victim is at the heart of our response.

6GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

GLOUCESTERSHIRE’S VISION FOR DOMESTIC ABUSE

P
age 24



01 02 03 04
PRIORITY 01

PREVENTION  
& EARLY 

INTERVENTION

PRIORITY 02

MULTI-AGENCY 
WORKING 

& PATHWAY 
DEVELOPMENT

05
PRIORITY 04

HIGH QUALITY 
SERVICE 

PROVISION

PRIORITY 03

WORKFORCE 
DEVELOPMENT

PRIORITY 05

WORKING TO 
BREAK THE CYCLE 
OF PERPETRATOR 

BEHAVIOUR

Gloucestershire’s priorities have been developed collaboratively through the Domestic  
Abuse Local Partnership Board and are informed by the National VAWG Strategy and National 
Statement of Expectations for domestic abuse. 

All priorities have been informed by the voice of the victim/survivor and the wider community 
and place the victim at the centre of service delivery. The continued inclusion of victim/survivor 
voice will be at the heart of the DA LPB (NB. Consultation group). 

NOTES: 
+ All priorities and actions relate to DA, Stalking, HBV/FM and CPA

+  Key findings from the needs assessment will be included within the DA strategy delivery plan 

+  Responding to measures in the DA Act will be a focus of the DA strategy delivery plan

04
OUR 
PRIORITIES

7GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

OUR PRIORITIES

P
age 25



Responding to domestic abuse effectively is not just about focusing on high risk victims, 
but also recognising the need to take a population-based approach, understanding and 
addressing the underlying causes of domestic abuse and determining which factors may 
increase risk and how those might be modified. By tackling ‘upstream’ risk factors we can 
help to lessen ‘downstream’ consequences, ensuring that communities and society are 
strengthened to support people experiencing domestic abuse to be safe, well and resilient. 

04

I DON’T NECESSARILY KNOW IF ENOUGH 
PREVENTATIVE MEASURES ARE IN PLACE, WE 
SHOULD (AS A SOCIETY) BE WORKING HARD TO 
ELIMINATE THE PROBLEM/GET PEOPLE SAFE 
BEFORE WAITING FOR IT TO ESCALATE TO THE 
WORST POSSIBLE SCENARIO
(Community Engagement Survey).

OBJECTIVE 1A: 
To ensure the continued understanding and assessment of the way in which 
domestic abuse presents within Gloucestershire and the exploration of 
mechanisms to respond to its root causes. 

PRIORITY 1: 
PREVENTION & EARLY INTERVENTION

OUTCOMES: 
+  A full domestic abuse needs assessment is developed every 3 years and an annual refresh 

is completed to define and monitor domestic abuse at a local level. 

+  An agreed multi-agency data set for domestic abuse is in place and agencies have the 
mechanism for the collection, analysis and sharing of data which will inform ongoing needs 
assessments and service development. 

+  Local processes are in place to identify the risk and protective factors associated with 
domestic abuse and plans are developed to adopt interventions that focus on primary 
prevention activity across the system (focusing on the ‘upstream’). 

+  All agencies with an interest in domestic abuse will have contributed, via the DA LPB, 
to discussions and developments into other preventative business focused areas such 
as Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and the collective response to addressing 
deprivation within Gloucestershire. 

8GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

OUR PRIORITIES

P
age 26



OUTCOMES: 
+  Review completed into the current healthy relationships education offer provided within 

schools and the development of a plan to ensure partnership investment in the delivery  
of specialist healthy relationships education (Inc. prevention of domestic abuse) which  
is available as a universal offer within Gloucestershire. 

+  Review completed of policies in place to respond to domestic abuse in education  
settings and development plan in place to deliver their approach.

+  Development and delivery of a countywide communications/media plan that raises 
awareness of healthy relationship behaviours amongst young people, support available  
and the role of young people and parents in recognising and responding to domestic  
abuse. Ensuring that relationship abuse is not considered to be a normal part of young 
people’s lives. 

OUTCOMES: 
+  Development and delivery of a countywide communications/ media plan that looks to 

create a culture of change in the societal attitudes towards domestic abuse, reducing 
the stigma of reporting for victims and their families and empowering individuals and the 
community to challenge unacceptable behaviour. 

+  Development and delivery of a service user and community engagement plan that 
supports the early identification and response of all victims of domestic abuse and 
reflects the need to adopt an intersectional approach and delivers solutions that make 
communities feel safer. 

+  Professionals are confident in making routine enquiry to identify victims of domestic abuse 
and take appropriate actions. 

+  Partnership investment is made available for the development of a Domestic Abuse 
Champions Network across Gloucestershire to support early identification of domestic abuse. 

OBJECTIVE 1B: 
To ensure young people are provided with evidence based education and 
interventions that promote healthy relationship behaviours and the delivery 
of messages that prevent the normalisation of abuse. 

OBJECTIVE 1C: 
To ensure those experiencing domestic abuse can access support at an 
early stage, preventing the risk of escalation (secondary prevention) and 
reducing exposure to the harmful consequences of domestic abuse. 

04
PRIORITY 1: 
PREVENTION & EARLY INTERVENTION

I THINK THE INFORMATION NEEDS TO  
BE EVERYWHERE. ESPECIALLY IN SCHOOLS 

AND AIMED AT YOUNG PEOPLE THAT THIS 
BEHAVIOUR IS UNACCEPTABLE

(Victim Engagement Survey)

9GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

OUR PRIORITIES

P
age 27



OBJECTIVE 2A: 
To ensure the development and embedding of clear pathways between all 
agencies and specialist domestic abuse services to provide a consistent 
approach to victims of domestic abuse and their families and clear joint 
working arrangements for agencies across Gloucestershire. 

To fully address domestic abuse a clear and robust multi-agency response is required. There 
is a need to ensure agencies effectively share information, risk assess and collaborate in their 
response to victims, perpetrators and their families, with clear pathways into specialist support. 
The Coordinated Community Response (CCR); an approach that Gloucestershire has adopted; 
provides a framework for this approach and is considered to be best practice in responding to 
domestic abuse. 

PRIORITY 2: 
MULTI-AGENCY WORKING  
AND PATHWAY DEVELOPMENT 

04

I THINK THE ERROR THE [AGENCY] MADE IN MY CASE WAS NOT LINKING UP SEPARATE 
REPORTS. I THINK ALL CASES SHOULD BE LOOKED AT MORE HOLISTICALLY TAKING 
INTO ACCOUNT THE HISTORY THAT SURROUNDS THE CASE. NOT JUST WHAT HAD BEEN 
REPORTED AT THAT POINT IN THE TIME, THE BIGGER PICTURE PAINTS A FAR CLEARER 

PICTURE OF THE SCALE OF ABUSE/CONTROL/NEGATIVE IMPACT ON A PERSON’S LIFE.

(Victim Engagement Survey).

OUTCOMES: 
+  Joint working protocols and practice are in place that support robust information sharing 

between statutory and specialist domestic abuse services. 

+  Clear pathways into specialist domestic abuse services are in place, understood by all 
agencies and fully implemented across all risk levels. 

+  Specialist domestic abuse services will see an increase in multi-agency referrals for 
support for victims and perpetrators of domestic abuse.

+  Partnership investment is made available to support the ongoing development of co-
location of specialist domestic abuse staff within appropriate organisations. 

+  Lessons from Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs) and other safeguarding reviews relevant 
to multi-agency working are put into practice and processes for monitoring implementation 
are agreed. 

+  Clear links are developed between the DA LPB and the Children and Adults Safeguarding 
processes and procedures. 

+  Through a co-production approach DA LPB partners will have reviewed and developed 
organisational policies and procedures in response to the Domestic Abuse Act 2021. 

THERE NEEDS TO BE MORE COMMUNICATION 
BETWEEN AGENCIES, THIS IS STILL NOT HAPPENING 

(Victim Engagement Survey)

10GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

OUR PRIORITIES

P
age 28



OBJECTIVE 3A: 
To ensure professionals across all agencies have access to specialist training that enables 
them to feel confident and competent in their response to Domestic Abuse, Stalking, Honour 
Based Violence, Forced Marriage and Child to Parent Abuse. 

To provide a robust countywide response to domestic abuse, we need to ensure professionals 
across all organisations are skilled in identifying and responding effectively to those vulnerable 
to domestic abuse both within the community and the workplace. 

PRIORITY 3: 
WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT

04

OUTCOMES: 
+  Through a co-production approach the existing Domestic Abuse Training Pathway  

is refreshed to ensure it meets the training needs of all key partner organisations and  
there is commitment to implement the DA Training Pathway across Gloucestershire.

+  Partnership investment is made available to support the implementation of the DA  
Training Pathway and enables the delivery of high quality training.

+  There is increased knowledge and a consistent approach to domestic abuse across  
staff in all agencies signed up to the DA Training Pathway.

+  Local processes are in place to monitor and provide opportunities for reflective practice 
that ensures lessons are learnt from Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs) and other 
safeguarding review processes.

OUTCOMES: 
+  Through a co-production approach the existing domestic abuse workplace policy 

guidance is refreshed to ensure it meets the needs of all key partner organisations. 

+  There is a commitment from organisations represented on the DA LPB to develop and 
implement workplace domestic abuse policies and procedures in line with local and 
national best practice guidance. 

+  An engagement plan is developed for the wider business sector in Gloucestershire to 
promote best practice in relation to addressing domestic abuse in the workplace and  
the development of workplace domestic abuse policies and procedures is encouraged. 

+  Development and delivery of a countywide communications/media plan that raises 
awareness of domestic abuse within the workplace, support available and the role of  
the employer in responding safely and effectively. 

+  Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Charter developed to signal commitment from all 
partners represented on the DA LPB to addressing domestic abuse, with exploration  
of widening this out to other workplaces across Gloucestershire. 

OBJECTIVE 3B: 
To ensure workplaces and business within Gloucestershire take a proactive approach to 
addressing domestic abuse and have in place effective policies and procedures which support 
organisations and staff in their response to colleagues who may be victims or perpetrators of 
domestic abuse. 

TRAINING IS NEEDED……AS I FELT AS THOUGH 
THEY THOUGHT I WAS A)WASTING THEIR 

TIME, AND B) BELIEVED MY SITUATION TO 
BE TRIVIAL 

(Victim Engagement Survey)

THERE NEEDS TO BE MORE TRAINING SO [PROFESSIONALS] CAN SEE THROUGH 

[COERCIVE CONTROL OR EMOTIONAL ABUSE]….

(Victim Engagement Survey).

11GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

OUR PRIORITIES

P
age 29



OBJECTIVE 4A: 

Through robust collaboration between Gloucestershire’s tier 1 and tier 2 
Local Authorities the identified local need for specialist domestic abuse safe 
accommodation is addressed and the support needs of those accessing 
safe accommodation are met. This objective supports us to meet our 
statutory duty, ensuring all victims of domestic abuse and their children 
have access to the right support within safe accommodation when they 
need it.

The provision of high quality domestic abuse services is central to any local response to victims 
and their families. Service provision needs to be accessible to all victims and be available at 
the right time to secure their immediate safety and support their longer term recovery from 
abuse. Services should be informed by the service user voice to ensure everyone who requires 
support feels empowered to access it. Services must be flexible to changing demand and 
need, ensuring appropriate solutions that acknowledge the wide ranging impact domestic 
abuse can have.

PRIORITY 4: 
HIGH QUALITY SERVICE PROVISION 
FOR VICTIMS AND THEIR FAMILIES 

04 THE BIGGEST ISSUE IS FEELING SAFE  
AND SUPPORTED. THEN YOU CAN SLOWLY 

BEGIN TO GET OUT OF THE ABUSIVE 
RELATIONSHIP AND REBUILD YOUR LIFE

(Victim Engagement Survey)

OUTCOMES: 
+  Partnership investment is made available to increase the provision of high quality specialist 

domestic abuse safe accommodation across all tenures, that is accessible to all, including 
protected characteristic groups and consideration of ‘by and for’ approaches. 

+  DLUHC (Department for Leveling Up Housing and Communities) funding is used to ensure 
specialist domestic abuse support is available for victims and their children accessing 
domestic abuse safe accommodation.

+  Through co-production, new and innovative approaches to providing specialist domestic 
abuse safe accommodation and deliver support in safe accommodation are considered 
and tested. 

+  Opportunities to support cross border collaboration for access to domestic abuse safe 
accommodation are considered, researched and commissioning possibilities explored.

+  Opportunities to support the local implementation of national best practices approaches 
to domestic abuse safe accommodation, such as the Whole Housing Approach, are 
considered, researched and commissioning possibilities explored.

+  Options for support in domestic abuse safe accommodation for those with No Recourse to 
Public Funds (NRPF) are considered, researched and commissioning possibilities explored.

+  Links with Registered Housing Providers developed that enables specialist support and 
safeguarding to victims of domestic abuse and their children within social housing.

12GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

OUR PRIORITIES

P
age 30



MORE FUNDING IS REQUIRED  
FOR THE SAFETY OF ALL VICTIMS 

AND DEPENDANTS 
(Victim Engagement Survey)

OUTCOMES: 
+  Partnership investment continues to be available for a range of specialist community based 

services for domestic abuse/stalking victims and their families which is at the right level to 
reflect demand and is accessible to all (reflecting intersectionality needs). 

+  Specialist community based domestic abuse services positively engage with protected 
characteristic groups, service offers are developed accordingly, resulting in an increase in 
referrals, aligned to local demographics. 

+  Options to widen the scope of local specialist community based support services are 
explored in line with national funding opportunities to increase investment and support 
innovation; considering opportunities for co-production and ‘by and for’ approaches. 

+  Partnership investment is made available for the development of long term recovery services 
that are trauma informed. 

+  The need for specialist provision to address Honour Based Violence, Forced Marriage and 
Child to Parent Abuse is understood, and a plan is developed to address this and consider 
commissioning opportunities. 

OUTCOMES: 
+  All agencies with an interest in domestic abuse will have contributed, via the DA LPB, to 

discussions and developments into the response to complex needs/ multiple disadvantage 
within Gloucestershire. 

+  Local evidence is gathered (including from DHRs/other reviews) which supports the 
development of a plan for addressing complex needs/ multiple disadvantage that includes 
victims of domestic abuse. 

+  Local processes are in place for all agencies to identify repeat victims of domestic abuse. 
Consideration will be given to how the intelligence gathered on repeat victims can be used  
to reduce multiple incidents of domestic abuse and safeguard victims and their families. 

+  Partnership investment is made available for the development of joint working and co-
location between domestic abuse support services and services that support those with 
mental health issues, substance misuse issues and wider complex needs.

OBJECTIVE 4B: 

To ensure the development and delivery of high quality specialist community 
based support for all victims of domestic abuse (aged 13+) and their 
families that ensures the availability of the right support at the right time. 

OBJECTIVE 4C: 

To contribute to the development of a countywide approach to complex 
needs/multiple disadvantage, ensuring that issues relating to domestic abuse 
victims and perpetrators are considered in any ongoing developments.

04PRIORITY 4: 
HIGH QUALITY SERVICE PROVISION 
FOR VICTIMS AND THEIR FAMILIES 

13GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

OUR PRIORITIES

P
age 31



OUTCOMES: 
+  For each district area (in conjunction with Safer Gloucestershire) to have considered  

the needs of their communities and develop a place based plan that addresses domestic 
abuse in both urban and rural communities; considering the links to deprivation. 

+  For the DA LPB to have considered the place based plan for each district and to have 
developed an approach that supports the implementation of specific activity to tackle 
domestic abuse at a community level. 

+  Development and delivery of a countywide communications/ media plan that raises 
awareness of domestic abuse and support that is available which is tailored to specific 
community needs. 

+  Partnership investment is made available for the development of a Domestic Abuse 
Champions Network and the embedding of specialist support services to support locality 
based identification and response to domestic abuse. 

OBJECTIVE 4D: 

To ensure we take a place based approach to domestic abuse, recognising 
the differing needs of individuals and the specific characteristics of 
communities across the county. For services and activities tackling domestic 
abuse to be reflective of these characteristics, taking a flexible strengths 
based approach. 

04 I FELT UNDERSTOOD AND 
VALIDATED BY MY CONTACT 
WITH {SPECIALIST SERVICES}

(Victim Engagement Survey)

THEY [SPECIALIST DA SERVICES] HELPED ME REALISE  
I WASN’T CRAZY, START TO BELIEVE IT MAY NOT HAVE 
BEEN MY FAULT, HELPED WITH PRACTICAL ADVICE 
ABOUT HOW TO TRY AND CO-PARENT SUCCESSFULLY 
WITH MY FORMER PARTNER AND GAVE ME A 
WONDERFUL FOUNDATION ON WHICH TO REBUILD 
MY MENTAL HEALTH.
(Victim Engagement Survey).

PRIORITY 4: 
HIGH QUALITY SERVICE PROVISION 
FOR VICTIMS AND THEIR FAMILIES 

14GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

OUR PRIORITIES

P
age 32



OBJECTIVE 5A: 

To ensure the development and delivery of local specialist support for 
perpetrators of domestic abuse and other harmful relationship behaviours, 
that addresses these behaviours and creates lasting positive change.

To break the cycle of domestic abuse and create lasting change for victims, we need to 
address perpetrator behaviour, holding individuals to account and providing support that 
facilitates the development of healthy relationship behaviours; recognising the impact of 
perpetrator behaviours on families as a whole. 

PRIORITY 5: 
WORKING TO BREAK THE CYCLE  
OF PERPETRATOR BEHAVIOUR

04

OUTCOMES: 
+  Partnership investment continues to be available for a range of specialist community  

based services for domestic abuse perpetrators which is at the right level to reflect 
demand and is accessible to all.

+  Partnership investment is made available for the development of specialist community 
based services to address harmful relationship behaviour for 16-18 year olds. 

+  Opportunities to address stalking perpetrator behaviour are considered, researched  
and commissioning possibilities explored.

+  Opportunities to address harmful behaviours associated with child to parent abuse are 
considered, researched and commissioning possibilities explored. 

+  Opportunities to widen the scope of local specialist community based perpetrator  
services based on national best practice are considered and opportunities for investment 
in commissioning approaches are explored. 

IF SOMEONE REALLY WANTS TO CHANGE IN A POSITIVE WAY 
THEN I WOULD ABSOLUTELY RECOMMEND [PERPETRATOR 
PROGRAMME]……I WOULD QUESTION ANYONE THAT SAYS 
AFTER ATTENDING THE PROGRAM IT HAS NOT HAD A VERY 
POSITIVE IMPACT ON THEM.

(Perpetrator Engagement Survey).

I FOUND WORKING WITH THE GROUP….VERY 
REWARDING AND SAFE, MAKING IT VERY EASY TO 

OPEN UP AND ASSESS MY PAST BEHAVIOURS AND 
CHANGES I NEEDED TO MAKE.

(Perpetrator Engagement Survey)

+  Regular evaluation processes are in place to facilitate the ongoing development of 
perpetrator provision that ensures lessons are learnt and best practice is shared. 

GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024 15

OUR PRIORITIES

P
age 33



DOMESTIC VIOLENCE IS STILL NOT 
TAKEN SERIOUSLY…..PERPETRATORS ARE 

TREATED TOO LIGHTLY AND IT’S EASY 
FOR THEM TO CONTINUE…

(Victim Engagement Survey)

OUTCOMES: 
+  Professionals are confident in making routine enquiry to identify perpetrators of domestic 

abuse and take appropriate actions. 

+  Local processes are in place for all agencies to identify repeat/ serial perpetrators of 
domestic abuse. Consideration will be given to how the intelligence gathered on repeat/ 
serial perpetrators can be used to reduce multiple incidents of domestic abuse and 
safeguard victims and their families. 

+  A proactive approach to policing domestic abuse is promoted with the aim of increasing 
arrest rates and opportunities for criminal justice intervention. 

+  The DA LPB has developed a strong links with the local Criminal Justice Board to promote  
a robust criminal justice response to domestic abuse and support for victims. 

OUTCOMES: 
+  Development and delivery of a countywide communications/ media plan that raises 

awareness of perpetrator behaviour, services available and the role of the community  
in responding safely and effectively. 

+  Opportunities to support bystander interventions in the community are considered, 
researched and commissioning possibilities explored.

OBJECTIVE 5B: 

To ensure a system wide joined up approach to addressing perpetrator 
behaviour that enables all agencies to identify perpetrators and respond 
appropriately. To have a robust criminal justice response that brings 
perpetrators to justice. 

OBJECTIVE 5C: 

To raise awareness of perpetrator behaviour both in the community and for 
the individual by enabling people to recognise abusive relationship behaviours, 
be aware of support available and feel empowered to respond effectively, 
supporting a county wide approach where domestic abuse is not tolerated.

04
PRIORITY 5: 
WORKING TO BREAK THE CYCLE  
OF PERPETRATOR BEHAVIOUR

16GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

OUR PRIORITIES

P
age 34



05
PUBLIC HEALTH 
APPROACH

A public health approach to violence prevention is defined by World Health Organisation  
(WHO) (2017)3 as an approach that;

SEEKS TO IMPROVE THE HEALTH AND SAFETY 
OF ALL INDIVIDUALS BY ADDRESSING THE 
UNDERLYING RISK FACTORS THAT INCREASE THE 
LIKELIHOOD THAT AN INDIVIDUAL WILL BECOME 
A VICTIM OR PERPETRATOR OF VIOLENCE

The focus of public health is on the health, safety and wellbeing of entire populations; it aims to 
provide the maximum benefit for the largest number of people. The underlying principles of a 
public health approach are that it is4:

+  FOCUSED ON A DEFINED POPULATION, OFTEN WITH A HEALTH RISK IN COMMON

+  WITH AND FOR COMMUNITIES

+  NOT CONSTRAINED BY ORGANISATIONAL OR PROFESSIONAL BOUNDARIES

+  FOCUSED ON GENERATING LONG TERM AS WELL AS SHORT TERM SOLUTIONS

+  BASED ON DATA AND INTELLIGENCE TO IDENTIFY THE BURDEN ON THE POPULATION, 
INCLUDING ANY INEQUALITIES

+  ROOTED IN EVIDENCE OF EFFECTIVENESS TO TACKLE THE PROBLEM

4  A whole-system multi-agency approach to serious violence prevention. A resource for local system leaders  
in England. Public HealthEngland, 2019.

STEP 1:
DEFINE & 
MONITOR  

THE PROBLEM

STEP 3:
DEVELOP AND  
TEST RISK LED 

RESPONSES, EARLY 
INTERVENTION 

AND PREVENTION 
STRATEGIES. 

STEP 2:
IDENTIFY RISK 
& PROTECTIVE 
FACTORS

STEP 4:
IMPLEMENTATION  

AT SCALE

3 World Health Organization, 2017. Violence Prevention Alliance: The public health approach

17GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

PUBLIC HEALTH APPROACH

P
age 35

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/862794/multi-agency_approach_to_serious_violence_prevention.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/862794/multi-agency_approach_to_serious_violence_prevention.pdf


05
Specific to Domestic Abuse, Gloucestershire supports 
SafeLives ‘The Whole Picture - our strategy to end domestic 
abuse, for good5’ and in particular, the pro-active approach 
to widen the response to domestic abuse. This includes 
challenging the whole of society to deconstruct stereotypes 
to encourage communities to have a low tolerance and high 
urgency about identifying abuse. This also extends to looking 
at geographical communities, online spaces and employers/
businesses so that they understand the risks posed by those 
who abuse and their role in protecting those at risk of harm.

Having an early intervention and prevention focus (i.e. 
acting before someone harms or is harmed) will provide an 
opportunity to work far more with our communities, elected 
members, schools, health providers, businesses and voluntary 
sector services to raise awareness of the issue and increase 
confidence for people to report and confidence to respond 
when a disclosure may be made.

It is so important that communities and society are 
strengthened to support people experiencing domestic 
abuse to be safe, well and resilient but this will also need a 
sustainable, strong infrastructure of statutory services and 
provision to be in place for those most vulnerable and at 
highest risk. 

To achieve our objectives and outcomes through a public 
health approach we will take a range of actions covering 
primary, secondary and tertiary prevention: 

A primary prevention approach focuses on preventing 
unhealthy/ unsafe relationship behaviours, through awareness 
raising and education, building the knowledge and skills of 

individuals, and delivering a progressive shift in the structural, 
cultural and societal contexts in which abuse occurs. 
Prioritising primary prevention challenges the notion that abuse 
and violence is inevitable or acceptable.

Through secondary prevention we can reduce the impact 
of DA, ensure access to support as soon as possible and 
encourage strategies to lesson future reoccurrence i.e. safety 
planning, ending the relationship/ moving on. We can look to 
target services for those at risk of experiencing domestic abuse 
and preventing abuse from recurring. 

Tertiary prevention looks to lessen the impact of an 
ongoing DA situation. Robust Risk assessment (DASH), 
safety planning, complex case management/ multi agency 
working (MARAC); and lessen the impact and burden of DA 
to the individual and society.

Reducing the causes and impacts of domestic abuse (in 
common with many other of the complex issues affecting the 
health and wellbeing of our population) cannot be achieved 
alone. We have a role in facilitating other agencies to come 
together to work across different systems, professional 
boundaries and localities. We need a co-ordinated approach, 
sharing evidence and information on known or emerging 
risks. This will help us all understand and challenge the 
actions, beliefs and attitudes that allow domestic abuse to 
persist in our communities.

5The Whole Picture - SafeLives' Strategy.pdf

PUBLIC HEALTH APPROACH

18GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

PUBLIC HEALTH APPROACH

P
age 36

https://safelives.org.uk/sites/default/files/resources/The%20Whole%20Picture%20-%20SafeLives'%20Strategy.pdf


06BACKGROUND TO 
DOMESTIC ABUSE

Domestic abuse (DA) is a widespread societal issue, 
estimated to have impacted on 2.3 million people in the 
year ending March 20206. Despite its widespread prevalence, 
domestic abuse is still widely recognised as an underreported 
crime. It remains relatively hidden, even though its impact on 
the individual, community and society is significant.

Domestic abuse is estimated to cost society in England 
and Wales £66 Billion annually, with considerable costs 
to the economy, health services, criminal justice responses 
and most significantly the human cost, with physical and 
emotional harms incurred by victims estimated to cost £47 
billion annually7.

The impact and prevalence of domestic abuse has in recent 
years, received a greater profile nationally, in the main, thanks 
to the introduction of the Domestic Abuse Act 2021. The 
Act sets out a range of both legislative and non-legislative 
measures designed to;

+ PROMOTE AWARENESS OF DOMESTIC ABUSE;

+ PROTECT & SUPPORT VICTIMS OF DOMESTIC ABUSE;

+  TRANSFORM THE JUSTICE PROCESS TO PRIORITISE 
VICTIM SAFETY AND PROVIDE AN EFFECTIVE RESPONSE 
TO PERPETRATORS;

+  DRIVE CONSISTENCY AND BETTER PERFORMANCE IN 
THE RESPONSE TO DOMESTIC ABUSE ACROSS ALL LOCAL 

AREAS, AGENCIES AND SECTORS. 

The Domestic Abuse Act 20218, received Royal Assent in April 
2021, and introduces for the first time, a cross government 
statutory definition of domestic abuse in which it is defined as;
Behaviour of a person (A) towards another person (B) is 
domestic abuse if – (a) A and B are each aged 16 or over and 
are personally connected to each other, and (b) the behaviour 
is abusive. 

Behaviour is ‘abusive’ if it consists of any of the following:

A. PHYSICAL OR SEXUAL ABUSE

B. VIOLENT OR THREATENING BEHAVIOUR

C. CONTROLLING OR COERCIVE BEHAVIOUR

D. ECONOMIC ABUSE

E. PSYCHOLOGICAL, EMOTIONAL OR OTHER ABUSE

It does not matter whether the behaviour consists of a single 
incident or a course of conduct9. 

NB. At the time of writing, the statutory definition is yet to be implemented. 

Whilst the Domestic Act 2021 introduces a range of new 
measures, a significant measure that impacts on local areas 
is the introduction of a statutory duty on local authorities in 
England to provide support to victims of domestic abuse and 
their children in domestic abuse safe accommodation. 

DOMESTIC ABUSE IS ESTIMATED 
TO ANNUALLY COST SOCIETY IN 
ENGLAND & WALES 

£66BN
COSTS TO THE ECONOMY ARE 
ESTIMATED TO ANNUALLY COST 

£47BN

6  Domestic abuse prevalence and trends, England and Wales -  
Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk)

7 The economic and social costs of domestic abuse - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
8 Domestic Abuse Act 2021 (legislation.gov.uk)
9  The full definition is available within the Domestic Abuse Act 2021: 

Domestic Abuse Act (legislation.gov.uk)

19GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

BACKGROUND TO DOMESTIC ABUSE

P
age 37

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabuseprevalenceandtrendsenglandandwales/yearendingmarch2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-economic-and-social-costs-of-domestic-abuse
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/contents


National Statement of Expectations (NSE)11. This sets out 
the expectations for local areas in their response to VAWG, 
ensuring approaches are collaborative, robust and effective 
and that victims and survivors can access the help they need.

The NSE outlines the following expectations from local 
strategies and services:

1. PUT THE VICTIM AT THE CENTRE OF SERVICE DELIVERY

2.  HAVE A CLEAR FOCUS ON PERPETRATORS IN ORDER TO 
KEEP VICTIMS SAFE

3.  TAKE A STRATEGIC, SYSTEM-WIDE APPROACH TO 
COMMISSIONING ACKNOWLEDGING THE GENDERED 
NATURE OF VAWG

4.  ARE LOCALLY-LED AND SAFEGUARD INDIVIDUALS AT 
EVERY POINT

5.  RAISE LOCAL AWARENESS OF THE ISSUES AND INVOLVE 
ENGAGE AND EMPOWER COMMUNITIES TO SEEK, DESIGN 
AND DELIVER SOLUTIONS TO PREVENT VAWG.

10  Tackling violence against women and girls strategy - GOV.UK  
(www.gov.uk)

11  Violence against women and girls: national statement of expectations - 
GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

Domestic Abuse (DA), Stalking, Honour Based Violence 
(HBV), Forced Marriage (FM) and Child to Parent Abuse 
(CPA) are all areas of the wider Violence Against Women 
and Girls (VAWG) agenda that are considered to be a major 
public health issue and violation of human rights and they are 
included in this strategy. 

Nationally, the Government’s commitment to VAWG has been 
made clear with the release of their Tackling Violence Against 
Women and Girls strategy for 2021-202410. This new strategy 
sets out the Governments plans to tackle the often hidden 
crimes associated with VAWG, aiming to increase the support 
to survivors, bring perpetrators to justice and to reduce the 
prevalence of VAWG. The priorities set out in Tackling Violence 
Against Women and Girls 2021-2024 include:

 + PRIORITISING PREVENTION 

 + SUPPORTING VICTIMS

 + PURSUING PERPETRATORS 

 + A STRONGER SYSTEM 

At the time of writing this strategy, we are awaiting the 
publication of a Government Domestic Abuse Strategy. 

Alongside the introduction of the VAWG strategy, still 
relevant to local areas responses to VAWG is the 2016 

06

20GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

BACKGROUND TO DOMESTIC ABUSE

P
age 38

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005630/Tackling_Violence_Against_Women_and_Girls_Strategy-July_2021-FINAL.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/574665/VAWG_National_Statement_of_Expectations_-_FINAL.PDF


The domestic abuse needs assessment was completed as part of the statutory duty within 
the Domestic Abuse Act 2021 to assess need for support within specialist domestic abuse 
accommodation. The scope of the needs assessment in Gloucestershire was widened to 
include domestic abuse specialist community based support services as well as Stalking, 
Honour Based Abuse, Forced Marriage and Child to Parent Abuse. 

The data provided within the needs assessment covered years 2017/18-2019/20. Additional 
data was sought for 2020/21 wherever available. A range of agencies provided data to 
contribute the needs assessment. 

07
DOMESTIC ABUSE 
IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE

DOMESTIC ABUSE  
NEEDS ASSESSMENT

21GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

DOMESTIC ABUSE IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE

P
age 39



&

OF ADULTS AGED 
16-74 EXPERIENCED  
DA IN THE LAST YEAR

WILL HAVE EXPERIENCED 
STALKING IN THE LAST YEAR

OF WOMEN OF MEN

5.5%

4.6% 2.5%2.3

NATIONAL PREVALENCE DATA (CSEW:YE MARCH 2020) ...

MILLION PEOPLE

THIS  
EQUATES  

TO

3
THERE ARE APPROXIMATELY

IN ENGLAND AND WALES
PER WEEK

DOMESTIC 
HOMICIDES

7 IN 100 WOMEN

DA IMPACTS AROUND

& 4 IN 100 MEN
EXPERIENCING DA IN THE LAST YEAR

22GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

DOMESTIC ABUSE IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE

P
age 40



GLOUCESTERSHIRE DATA ...

OF STALKING VICTIMS  
ARE FEMALE

94%

OF STALKING  
OFFENDERS ARE MALE

97%
OF REFERRALS INTO CHILDREN 
SOCIAL CARE ARE DA RELATED

30%

STALKING RATE:

CRIMES PER

OF THE 
POPULATION

OF GLOUCESTERSHIRE

0.87
1000

OF ALL CRIME REPORTED  
TO GLOUCESTERSHIRE POLICE 

IS DOMESTIC ABUSE

13%

OF ALL VIOLENT  
OFFENCES REPORTED TO  

GLOUCESTERSHIRE POLICE   
IS DOMESTIC ABUSE

38%
DA RATE:

CRIMES PER

OF THE POPULATION

8.25
1000

HIGHEST RATE OF 
DA LOCALLY  
IS WITHIN THE AGE 
GROUP 20-24 
19.96 DA CRIMES 
PER 1000 OF THE  
20-24 POPULATION) 

20-24
YR OLDS

93% OF DA  
PERPETRATORS ARE MALE.

7% ARE FEMALE

93% 7%

78% OF LOCAL DA  
VICTIMS ARE FEMALE. 

22% ARE MALE

78% 22%

THERE IS A CLEAR LINK BETWEEN DA AND DEPRIVATION: RESIDENTS 
IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE ARE 6X MORE LIKELY TO REPORT DA IN THE MOST 
DEPRIVED 20% OF AREAS IN ENGLAND THAN THE LEAST DEPRIVED 20%. 
IT IS EXPECTED HOWEVER THAT DOMESTIC ABUSE IN MORE AFFLUENT 
AREAS OF THE COUNTY IS UNREPORTED.  20%

23GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

DOMESTIC ABUSE IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE

P
age 41



GLOUCESTERSHIRE DATA... 

DA VICTIMS WHO APPROACHED 
THE GLOUCESTERSHIRE 

REFUGE WERE UNABLE TO BE 
ACCOMMODATED IN 2019/20

90

TO MARAC (HIGH RISK VICTIMS) PER

10,000  
OF THE FEMALE POPULATION IN 
GLOUCESTERSHIRE, COMPARED  

WITH 42 REFERRALS NATIONALLY

46 REFERRALS

FROM 1ST APRIL 2018-31ST DEC 2020: 

DA VICTIMS WERE 
HOUSED IN 
PLACES OF SAFETY 

DA VICTIMS WERE 
NOT ABLE TO BE 
ACCOMMODATED IN 
PLACES OF SAFETY 45 105

IN 2020/21 GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC 
ABUSE SUPPORT SERVICE (GDASS) 
RECEIVED OVER

7% 14%
INCREASE IN 

REFERRALS FROM 
19/20 TO 20/21

OF REFERRALS  
ARE FOR HIGH 

RISK CASES 

7000 REFERRALS

79%

200 REFERRALS
IN 2020/21 POSITIVE RELATIONSHIPS 
GLOUCESTERSHIRE (PRG) RECEIVED OVER 

FOR PERPETRATORS OF DOMESTIC ABUSE. 
FOLLOWING AN ASSESSMENT

ARE OFFERED A SERVICE  
INTERVENTION TO ADDRESS  
THEIR PERPETRATOR BEHAVIOUR.

THE MOST COMMON ISSUES WITH 
ACCESS TO DOMESTIC ABUSE SAFE 
ACCOMMODATION IN THE COUNTY 
ARE RELATED TO: 

NO RECOURSE 
TO PUBLIC FUNDS

COMPLEX NEEDS

LACK OF 
AVAILABLE SPACE

LACK OF MOVE ON 
ACCOMMODATION

24GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

DOMESTIC ABUSE IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE

P
age 42



07
TRAINING FOR FRONTLINE STAFF  

across all agencies (early identification & prevention)
FURTHER DEVELOPMENT

and embedding of DA Pathways (CCR)  
and partnership approach

ONGOING AWARENESS  
raising and community engagement to increase reporting 
and access to support (including the role of community 

champions in supporting the identification of DA)

IMPROVE DA DATA  
collection across all agencies

ONGOING ASSESSMENT  
against ‘In Search of Excellence’ to ensure best 

practice CCR

PLACE BASED APPROACH  
to DA/ deprivation/ access to support/Urban  

and Rural

RESPONSE TO DA VICTIMS  
with complex needs &/or multiple disadvantage/

intersectionality (particularly LGBTQ, BAME and Disability)

IMPROVEMENTS IN EARLY IDENTIFICATION 
of domestic abuse, risk assessment and referral  

into specialist services

PREPARATIONS  
for the new measures introduced in the DA Act

NEEDS ASSESSMENT: OVERARCHING 
AREAS OF DEVELOPMENT7.1

25GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

DOMESTIC ABUSE IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE

P
age 43



C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y

 
B

A
S

E
D

A
C

C
O

M
M

O
D

A
T

IO
N

 
B

A
S

E
D

07NEEDS ASSESSMENT:  
THEMED AREAS OF DEVELOPMENT

ENGAGEMENT 
with protected characteristics groups

(consideration of ‘by and for’ approach)

7.2
INCREASE DA  
SPECIFIC  
accommodation 
across all tenures

SPECIALIST 
ACCOMMODATION

to meet specific needs (protected 
characteristics)

CONSIDER CROSS BORDER
access to accommodation

DEVELOP BETTER LINKS
with registered social landlords to ensure

appropriate responses to victims of DA

CONSIDER SUPPORT
for victims with no recourse to 
public funds (NRPF)

WHOLE  
HOUSING  
APPROACH

COMMUNITY  
BASED SUPPORT

ACCOMMODATION  
BASED SUPPORT

MULTI AGENCY ENGAGEMENT  
& INCREASING REFERRALS

CAPACITY
within current service 
(need for growth)

ACCESS TO DA SAFE 
ACCOMMODATION 
at the right time capacity 

within current service 
(need for growth)

26GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

DOMESTIC ABUSE IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE

P
age 44



THEMED 
AREAS
P

E
R

P
E

T
R

A
T

O
R

S

V
U

L
N

E
R

A
B

L
E

 
A

D
U

L
T

S

CAPACITY 
within current 13+ service  
(need for growth)IMPROVEMENT OF 

ARREST RATES 
& crime recording for DA

YOUNG PEOPLE 
PREVENTION 
& early intervention

CJS RESPONSE 
to perpetrators

CAPACITY 
within the current service

INCREASING 
perpetrator support  
16+

REVIEW 
of educational input  

in schools

CHILDREN &  
YOUNG PEOPLE

PERPETRATORS VULNERABLE 
ADULTS

GREATER UNDERSTANDING 
of local need and required intervention

CONSIDER & CLARIFY 
multi agency response  

to vulnerable adults

DEDICATED SERVICES 
for under 13 witnessing domestic abuse

27GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

DOMESTIC ABUSE IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE

P
age 45



THEMED 
AREAS
S

T
A

L
K

IN
G

C
H

IL
D

 T
O

 
P

A
R

E
N

T
 A

B
U

S
E

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT 
& awareness raising

GREATER UNDERSTANDING 
of local need and required intervention

RESPONSE 
to stalking perpetrators

INCREASED 
use of Stalking Protection 

Orders (SPOs)

STALKING

CAPACITY 
within the current service 

TRAINING 
& awareness raising

GREATER UNDERSTANDING 
of local need and required intervention

COMMUNITY 
engagement & awareness raising

CHILD TO 
PARENT 

ABUSE (CPA)

HONOUR BASED 
VIOLENCE  

(HBV)/FORCED  
MARRIAGE (FM)

28GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

DOMESTIC ABUSE IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE

P
age 46



08
VOICE OF THE 
VICTIM/SURVIVOR
The voice of the victim/survivor is essential to the development 
of a local strategy to tackle domestic abuse. Only those with 
a lived experience are able to provide first-hand knowledge of 
how our local systems and services work and how they could 
be improved to ensure victims of domestic abuse are effectively 
supported at all levels. Understanding the lived experienced is 
how we can ensure our decision making and activity to tackle 
domestic abuse remains victim-focused, placing the victim/ 
survivor at the centre of our thinking and response.

To inform the development of this strategy, Gloucestershire 
County Council commissioned Perpetuity Research and 
Consultancy International (PRCI) Ltd in 2021 to conduct a 
service user and community engagement exercise. This work 
sought the views of;

+ THOSE WITH LIVED EXPERIENCED OF DOMESTIC ABUSE

+  MEMBERS OF THE COMMUNITY WHO MAY OR MAY  
NOT KNOW SOMEONE WHO HAS EXPERIENCED 
DOMESTIC ABUSE

+  THE VIEWS OF PERPETRATORS OF DOMESTIC ABUSE 

WERE ALSO SOUGHT

The results from this engagement exercise supported the key 
findings from the Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Needs 
Assessment 2021, but also identified a need to locally consider:

+  Developing longer term recovery services for 
survivors of domestic abuse and their children.

+  Improving links between domestic abuse and 
substance misuse services.

+  Increasing awareness raising on services available 
locally, particularly PRG, STREET, Stalking Services  
and specific aspects of the GDASS service e.g. Places  
of Safety.

+  Increasing awareness raising and communications that 
aim to reduce the stigma of reporting domestic abuse.

+  Developing a better understanding of the role of mental 
health in identifying domestic abuse and improving 
mental health pathways to specialist support.

+  Increasing and enhancing training for all 
professionals, with particular focus on the police  
to ensure a consistent approach to policing  
domestic abuse.

+  Improving links between the Domestic Abuse Local 
Partnership Board and the Courts (both criminal and 
family) to ensure appropriate response and support  
for DA victims.

+  Improving capacity and availability of existing 
specialist services.

+  Building on the role of the community in 
identifying domestic abuse and supporting reporting 
and access to specialist services.

+  Promoting information and support for families and 
friends to help them respond to domestic abuse.

+   Improving links to the Black, Asian and Ethnic 
Minority community to encourage access 
to specialist support and seek their ongoing 
engagement in service and strategy development.

Alongside this commissioned research, the Domestic Abuse 
Local Partnership Board is committed to ensuring that the 
victim/survivor voice is represented at all levels of decision 
making and activity locally to tackle domestic abuse. In 
conjunction with the Sexual Violence Partnership Board, a new 
role of Consultation Coordinator and establishment of the Local 
Partnership Board Consultation Group will ensure the constant 
and consistent engagement with a wide range of stakeholders, 
including those with lived experience and their children, to 
identify local priorities, concerns, issues and seek views on the 
current service offer, gaps and future developments.

The Consultation Coordinator will ensure the voice of victim/
survivor is present during all Domestic Abuse Local Partnership 
Board discussions and developments.

29GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

VOICE OF THE VICTIM/SURVIVOR

P
age 47



09
COMMISSIONING CONTEXT

In Gloucestershire we take a partnership approach to 
commissioning support to address domestic abuse. In 2018 
we developed the Gloucestershire Joint Commissioning 
Framework for Domestic Abuse. This is a five year framework 
(2018 – 2023) which aims to improve joint commissioning 
and align current and future investment across the county to 
address the spectrum of domestic abuse need.

The framework is designed to allow commissioning partners to 
secure domestic abuse services as they are needed and:

+  Helps ensure a joined up approach by partners to 
tackling domestic abuse and in delivering the joint 
domestic abuse outcomes of the local domestic abuse 
strategy through selected suppliers

+   Creates the ability to respond more quickly to 
procuring services as well as ensuring providers  
are jointly working in line with the local domestic 
abuse strategy

THE GLOUCESTERSHIRE 
APPROACH TO COMMISSIONING 
DOMESTIC ABUSE SUPPORT

+   Maintains flexibility for additional funding to be 
invested by partners in the commissioning framework 
over its lifetime, including any funding resulting from 
Government legislation

+  Allows local delivery of services relevant to local need

The framework also aims to:

+   MAINTAIN THE SPECIALIST APPROACH FOR HIGH RISK 
DOMESTIC ABUSE VICTIMS AND THEIR FAMILIES

+   SHIFT OVER TIME TOWARDS PREVENTION AND AWAY 
FROM REACTIVE CRISIS

+   INCREASINGLY INTEGRATE DOMESTIC ABUSE SUPPORT 
AND INFLUENCE PRACTICE ACROSS THE WHOLE SYSTEM

+   SUPPORT THE DEVELOPMENT OF A MORE CONFIDENT 
WORKFORCE SYSTEM WIDE

+   COLLECT SHARED ROBUST DATA/ INTELLIGENCE

The framework is led by Gloucestershire County Council 
(GCC), with the Office for the Police and Crime Commissioner 
(OPCC), District Councils and the Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) signed up to use the framework 
for all domestic abuse commissioning activity.

30GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

COMMISSIONING CONTEXT

P
age 48



GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC 
ABUSE SUPPORT SERVICE (GDASS)
GDASS is a specialist countywide domestic abuse 
support service provided by GreenSquareAccord, it is 
commissioned by GCC with investment from the OPCC 
to provide Court IDVA support. The service provides:

+  Support to all victims of domestic abuse aged 
16+, both female and male with staff specialisms 
identified covering all protected characteristic 
groups

+  Support across all risk levels:
 - Helpdesk support/ first response & triage.
 -  Standard/Medium risk: Floating Support  

and Group Work for women and men.
 -  High Risk: Independent Domestic Violence 

Advisors (IDVAs), including IDVAs with 
specialist knowledge and a dedicated court 
IDVA & young persons IDVA.

 -  Support service to the Multi-agency 
Safeguarding Hub (MASH).

+  Support to victims in the context of the family:
 - Dedicated workers within the Gloucester multi-

agency team within Children’s Social Care.

+  Awareness raising and training for 
professionals in Gloucestershire.

+  Community awareness raising and engagement
+  Domestic Abuse Champions Network (for 

professionals and expanding to community 
representatives).

+  Co-located specialist workers and joint working 
agreements within a variety of settings.

In addition to the core service, the CCG have also 
commissioned the following provision which is embedded 
within GDASS:

HEALTH IDVAS 
Based within Gloucestershire Royal Hospital (GRH) and 
Cheltenham General Hospital (CGH). The health IDVAs 
provide intervention to those experiencing DA at the earliest 
opportunity when they attend hospital. The health IDVAs also 
provide training to hospital staff.

GP DEVELOPMENT WORKERS
Support to GP surgeries to identify and train DA champions 
and developing links into the GDASS service for victims. The 
GP Development Workers also support surgeries to become 
safe spaces for disclosures of DA.

LOT 1LOT 1: 
SPECIALIST SERVICES FOR  
VICTIMS OF DOMESTIC ABUSE

LOT 2: 
PLACES OF SAFETY

LOT 3:  
SERVICES TO ADDRESS  
PERPETRATOR BEHAVIOUR

LOT 4:  
YOUNG PEOPLE

LOT 5:  
EARLY IDENTIFICATION AND  
WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT

LOT 6:  
STALKING

There are currently 13 providers awarded to the framework  
with 31 separate bids covering all Lots. This is an open 
framework which means that we have an annual reopening 
where new providers can bid for award to Lots 2 – 6 (noting 
that Lot 1 is a closed Lot)

The commissioning framework is split into 6 ‘Lots’ in which a 
range of local services have been commissioned:

31GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

COMMISSIONING CONTEXT09

P
age 49



PLACES OF SAFETY SCHEME
Twelve places of safety are commissioned by the District 
Councils, the scheme is managed by GreenSquareAccord 
alongside the delivery of GDASS. The places of safety  
scheme provides:

+  Accessible, affordable and suitable self contained 
individual properties for victims of domestic abuse/
VAWG who will have a variety of needs, including 
single victims (female and male), family units, victims 
with disabilities and/ or additional support needs. This 
accommodation is temporary and support is provided 
to secure suitable move on accommodation

+  Specialist DA support is provided by GDASS, to 
address DA needs, manage risk and facilitate recovery 
and move on

TARGET HARDENING  
& SANCTUARY SCHEME
A target hardening and sanctuary scheme is commissioned by 
the District Councils and the OPCC. The scheme is delivered 
countywide by Safe Partnership, it provides:

+  A range of measures for maintaining victim safety 
at home by way of additional security measures e.g. 
alarms, locks, lighting

+  The provision of a safe room with telephone in a 
property where there is very high risk of DA and/ 
or stalking

+ Healthy relationships early interventions group work

+  Partner safety work to ensure victims remain safe as 
perpetrators attend the programme

+  Relapse prevention support for men completing  
the DVPP

SAFE TEENAGE RELATIONSHIPS 
EDUCATION & EMPOWERMENT TEAM 
(STREET) GLOUCESTERSHIRE
A countywide service that provides a range of prevention 
activity, targeted support, group work programmes and 
support to safeguard young people (female and male) aged 13-
19. The service is provided by West Mercia Women’s Aid,  
it is commissioned by GCC. The service provides:

+   Support to young people aged 13-19 affected by  
DA through:

 - Experience of teenage relationship abuse
 - Witnessing and affected by DA in the home
 -  Displaying harmful behaviours in their own 

relationships

+   Young Person’s Violence Advisor (YPVA) support  
for medium and high levels of risk

+   Evidence based group programme CRUSH and the 
Recovery Toolkit

LOT 2
STROUD BERESFORD  
WOMEN’S REFUGE
The women’s refuge in Gloucestershire is provided by the 
Stroud Beresford Group, a charity that has been providing 
support in the county for over 40 years. The refuge is 
independently funded, not commissioned through the DA 
framework and with some regular support from DLUHC grant 
funding and the District Councils. The refuge provides support 
to women and their children, offering safe accommodation (9 
bed spaces) alongside a range of services that help build skills, 
confidence and self-esteem.

POSITIVE RELATIONSHIPS 
GLOUCESTERSHIRE (PRG) 
PRG is a specialist countywide service that provides a range of 
interventions to challenge beliefs and address the behaviours of 
domestic abuse perpetrators. The service is provided by Splitz 
Support Service, it is commissioned jointly by GCC, OPCC and 
CCG. The service provides:

+   A 25 week accredited domestic violence prevention 
programme (DVPP). This is a behavioural change 
group programme for male perpetrators of DA

+  1:1 behavioural change work with any perpetrators 
of DA who are unable to attend the DVPP group 
programme, including female perpetrators of DA, 
LGBTQ+ perpetrators, as well as those with language 
barriers and learning difficulties

LOT 3

LOT 4

32GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

COMMISSIONING CONTEXT09

P
age 50



NON-SPECIALIST DA SERVICE 
PROVISION
Victims/ survivors of domestic abuse can access DA support 
from a whole range of providers across Gloucestershire 
e.g. Housing Teams/ Homelessness services, GP’s, other 
health provision including mental health services, Children’s 
Social Care, Adult Social Care, Education settings, Children 
and Family Centres, DWP, counselling services, other 
commissioned specialist services e.g. CGL, Nelson Trust. 
These providers are engaged with the DA agenda, have a good 
awareness of domestic abuse, proactively seek to identify 
domestic abuse and work with victims and their families to 
understand risk and address the issues presenting or will make 
onward referrals as needed to specialist DA support services. 

DLUHC FUNDING ALLOCATION
To support the delivery of the local authority statutory duties 
in the Domestic Abuse Act 2021, the Department for Leveling 
Up Housing and Communities (DLUHC) has allocated funding 
to each local authority area. Gloucestershire County Council 
is working with its local partners to consider and prioritise the 
funding allocated to address the support needs of domestic 

abuse victims and their children in safe accommodation. 
Initial approval has been given to develop the following to 
strengthen our accommodation based support offer:

+   Domestic abuse specialist support for victims 
accommodated in our Places of Safety model

+   Development of additional Places of Safety with 
specialist support

+   Consider development of a dispersed refuge approach

+   Funding for specialist support within the current refuge

+   Flexible funding scheme to facilitate access to goods 
and services for victims with housing related needs

+   Specialist support for victims receiving target 
hardening and sanctuary measures

+   Specialist Domestic abuse advocates in housing teams

+   Domestic abuse training within the housing sector

Further consideration will be given as to how this funding will 
be used in future years to continue to strengthen the local 
approach to support within safe accommodation.

Commissioning services under Lot 5 is a priority of this 
strategy

GLOUCESTERSHIRE STALKING 
ADVOCACY SERVICE (GSAS)
A countywide service that provides support to high 
risk victims of stalking across Gloucestershire, working 
in conjunction with GDASS, Victim Support and 
Gloucestershire Constabulary. The service is provided 
by Splitz Support Service, commissioned by the 
OPCC to provide an Independent Stalking Advocacy 
Caseworker (ISAC).

LOT 5

LOT 6

33GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

COMMISSIONING CONTEXT09

P
age 51



10
POLICY CONTEXT
This Domestic Abuse Strategy overlaps with the aims of many 
other national and local strategies. A partnership approach 
which recognises these interlinking issues and priorities has 
greater potential to prevent domestic abuse and produce a 
more effective response to domestic abuse in Gloucestershire.

NATIONAL
TACKLING VIOLENCE AGAINST 
WOMEN AND GIRLS 2021 - 2024
The strategy to tackle violence against women and girls 
(VAWG 2021 – 2024), provides a specific focus on the types 
violence and abuse which are more likely to be experienced by 
women and girls including, domestic abuse, sexual violence/ 
harassment, forced marriage, female genital mutilation (FGM), 
honour based violence, stalking, sex work, modern slavery 
and human trafficking, child sexual exploitation (CSE) and 
supporting female offenders. This strategy places a focus 
on prioritising prevention, supporting victims, perusing 
perpetrators and there being a stronger system.

THE NATIONAL VICTIMS STRATEGY
The national victim’s strategy places a focus on; overarching 
improvements to victims experience, support available whether 
or not victims report a crime, improving support once a victim 
reports a crime, better support during the court process and 
ensuring the victims understand court decisions and the 
implications for them and the offender.

MODERN SLAVERY AND HUMAN 
TRAFFICKING
Modern slavery is a complex crime that encompasses slavery, 
servitude, forced and compulsory labour and human trafficking. 
Domestic abuse is experienced by many victims of modern 
slavery and some are exploited or trafficked by intimate 
partners or family members; this is particularly the case for 
victims of domestic servitude and sexual exploitation, who are 
predominantly women and girls. The Modern Slavery Strategy 
aims to disrupt perpetrators, prevent exploitation, protect 
victims, and prepare systems to respond.

Locally, Gloucestershire County Council chairs the multi-
agency Gloucestershire Anti-Slavery Partnership and has a 
modern slavery strategy under development.

FEMALE OFFENDER STRATEGY
The criminal justice board’s female offender strategy recognises 
that many female offenders experience chaotic lifestyles 
involving substance misuse, mental health problems, and 
homelessness which are often the product of a life of abuse 
and trauma. The strategy aims to take a new approach which 
is locally-led, partnership-focused and evidence-based in order 
to address vulnerability and treat offenders as individuals with 
the potential to contribute positively to society.

SUPPORTING FAMILIES PROGRAMME
The national supporting families programme (formerly Troubled 
Families) has championed whole family and multi-agency 
working to support vulnerable families that are experiencing 
multiple disadvantages such as unemployment, domestic 
abuse and poor mental health.

The titles on this page are live links. Siimply click on 
them to be taken to the linked article.

34GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

POLICY CONTEXT

P
age 52

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tackling-violence-against-women-and-girls-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tackling-violence-against-women-and-girls-strategy
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/746930/victim-strategy.pdf#:~:text=Executive%20summary%20This%20cross-government%20Victims%20Strategy%20sets%20out,justice%20agencies%2C%20including%20the%20police%2C%20CPS%20and%20courts.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/modern-slavery-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/modern-slavery-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/female-offender-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/supporting-families


10
LOCAL
SAFER GLOUCESTERSHIRE
Domestic abuse and sexual violence (DASV) is one of the six 
priorities of Safer Gloucestershire, alongside substance misuse, 
safeguarding children, and violence prevention. The strategy 
makes a commitment to ensuring a zero-tolerance approach to 
domestic abuse, including honour based violence and forced 
marriage. This includes identifying and offering help earlier to 
victims and families affected by domestic abuse and sexual 
violence; supporting professionals from all organisations to 
support victims in coming forward; and working together to 
make best use of resources.

ACTION ON ACES
Understanding of the impact of trauma and abuse links to the 
Action on ACEs work in Gloucestershire. Adverse Childhood 
Experiences (ACEs) are specific traumatic events that occur 
before the age of 18, including neglect and abuse as well 
as indirect experiences in the household, including parental 
separation, domestic abuse, substance misuse, mental 
illness, and incarceration. Evidence shows that experiencing 
ACEs has direct links to increased risk of poorer outcomes 
in education, employment and health in later life. The 
Gloucestershire Action on ACEs Strategy aims to break the 
inter-generational cycle of trauma.

GLOUCESTERSHIRE JOINT HEALTH 
AND WELLBEING STRATEGY
The Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy takes 
a systems approach to addressing eight key priorities including:

+ ACE
+ MENTAL WELLBEING
+ EARLY YEARS
+ HOUSING

SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN
The Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children Partnership 
has representation from; NHS Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group, Gloucestershire Constabulary and 
Gloucestershire County Council working together to identify 
safeguarding priorities for children and young people including 
securing their health and wellbeing and ensuring they 
have access to a good quality learning. Domestic Abuse is 
recognised as a child protection issue.

SAFEGUARDING ADULTS
The Gloucestershire Safeguarding Adults Board strategic plan 
reflects the commitment of organisations in Gloucestershire to 
work together to safeguard adults with care and support needs 
in line with the Care Act, including those experiencing domestic 

abuse, sexual violence, modern slavery, and financial abuse.

SEXUAL VIOLENCE
At the time writing this strategy the Gloucestershire Sexual 
Violence Strategy is in development, there will be clear 
partnership links between the Sexual Violence Partnership 
Board and the DA Local Partnership Board.

GLOUCESTER HOUSING HOMELESSNESS  
AND ROUGH SLEEPING STRATEGY

CHELTENHAM HOUSING HOMELESSNESS  
AND ROUGH SLEEPING STRATEGY

STROUD HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION STRATEGY

TEWKESBURY HOUSING STRATEGY

FOREST OF DEAN HOUSING STRATEGY

COTSWOLDS PREVENTING HOMELESSNESS 
STRATEGY

HOUSING & HOMELESSNESS
Each district has its own housing, homelessness and rough 
sleeping strategies where the accommodation needs of 
survivors of domestic abuse are considered tackled through 
the implementation of appropriate solutions.

Cick on the above titles to access pdf.

Most of the titles on this page are live links.  
Simply click on them to be taken to the linked article.

35GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

POLICY CONTEXT

P
age 53

https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/priorities/safer-gloucestershire/
https://www.actionaces.org
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2106328/gcc_2596-joint-health-and-wellbeing-strategy_dev12.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2106328/gcc_2596-joint-health-and-wellbeing-strategy_dev12.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gscp/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gsab/
https://www.gloucester.gov.uk/media/4887/city_1294-housing-and-homelessness-strategy_adopted-version.pdf
https://www.gloucester.gov.uk/media/4887/city_1294-housing-and-homelessness-strategy_adopted-version.pdf
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/info/49/housing_strategy_and_enabling/1395/housing_and_homelessness_strategy
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/info/49/housing_strategy_and_enabling/1395/housing_and_homelessness_strategy
https://www.stroud.gov.uk/housing/homelessness/homelessness-prevention-strategy#:~:text=Homelessness%20prevention%20strategy%20This%20strategy%20has%20been%20developed,and%20voluntary%20organisations%2C%20service%20providers%20and%20user%20representatives.
https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/housing-strategy#:~:text=The%20strategy%20identifies%20four%20key%20housing%20priorities%20and,the%20health%20and%20well-being%20of%20local%20people%20
https://www.fdean.gov.uk/housing/housing-strategy/#:~:text=Housing%20Strategy%202020-2024%20The%20Housing%20Strategy%20sets%20out,and%20is%20essential%20to%20allow%20communities%20to%20thrive.
https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/media/k4goooiy/preventing-homelessness-strategy-2018-to-2023.pdf
https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/media/k4goooiy/preventing-homelessness-strategy-2018-to-2023.pdf
https://www.gloucester.gov.uk/media/4887/city_1294-housing-and-homelessness-strategy_adopted-version.pdf
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/info/49/housing_strategy_and_enabling/1395/housing_and_homelessness_strategy
https://www.stroud.gov.uk/housing/homelessness/homelessness-prevention-strategy#:~:text=Homelessness%20prevention%20strategy%20This%20strategy%20has%20been%20developed,and%20voluntary%20organisations%2C%20service%20providers%20and%20user%20representatives.
https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/housing-strategy#:~:text=The%20strategy%20identifies%20four%20key%20housing%20priorities%20and,the%20health%20and%20well-being%20of%20local%20people%20
https://www.fdean.gov.uk/housing/housing-strategy/#:~:text=Housing%20Strategy%202020-2024%20The%20Housing%20Strategy%20sets%20out,and%20is%20essential%20to%20allow%20communities%20to%20thrive.
https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/media/k4goooiy/preventing-homelessness-strategy-2018-to-2023.pdf


11
PLANNED REVIEW  
OF THE DA STRATEGY
The Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Strategy will be in place 
for 3 years (2021-2024) in line with Government requirements. 
Our intention is to refresh the strategy in 2022 to ensure it 
remains in line with expected publications and policy changes 
nationally, including:

+  NATIONAL DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY AND  
MALE VICTIMS STATEMENT

+  FINAL VERSIONS OF THE DOMESTIC ABUSE  
STATUTORY GUIDANCE

+  ANY REFRESH OF THE NATIONAL STATEMENT  
OF EXPECTATIONS

+  UPDATES IN ANNUAL DLUHC FUNDING ALLOCATION

+  UPDATES ON THE POSITION WITH REGARDS  
COMMUNITY BASED SUPPORT FOLLOWING THE  
REVIEW OF THE VICTIM’S STRATEGY AND DOMESTIC 
ABUSE COMMISSIONERS REPORT ON THE IMPACT OF  
THE DOMESTIC ABUSE ACT 2021 ON COMMUNITY  
BASED SUPPORT.

We will also consider other opportunities to link with  
related national and local strategies, and local consideration  
for widening the scope to reflect the needs of young people  
under the age of 16.

The intention is for the Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse 
Strategy to be formally reviewed every 3 years in line with  
the statutory requirements as part of the Domestic Abuse  
Act 2021.

To support the continued delivery of the Gloucestershire 
Domestic Abuse Strategy, the local needs assessment will be 
completed in full every 3 years, with an annual review of local 
domestic abuse accommodation based support services in line 
with the statutory requirements as part of the Domestic Abuse 
Act 2021.

36GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

PLANNED REVIEW OF THE DA STRATEGY

P
age 54



12
IN-COUNTY REFUGE 

ENTRY POINT
+  Emily is a young mum, aged 19, with  

a 3 month old baby.

+  She was referred to the refuge by her 
district housing team after fleeing the 
social housing she shared with her 
boyfriend who was controlling, physically 
and mentally abusive.

VICTIM/SURVIVOR NEEDS WITHIN  
SAFE ACCOMMODATION
+  Emily needed support to understand domestic abuse and its 

impact on her child, help with housing and accessing financial 
support such as housing benefit, child benefit and universal credit.

+  As a care leaver without family support Emily lacked confidence  
and self esteem.

+  She needed help with life skills and budgeting, as well as 
guidance on parenting skills such as managing crying.

FOLLOW ON SUPPORT
+  Emily received follow on support to ensure safe contact 

between her baby and its father, with help seeking legal 
advice available, if it was needed.

+  Multiagency meetings made sure there was a smooth 
transition from the refuge, to local community based family 
support / parenting help.

OUTCOMES
+  Emily now lives in suitable accommodation 

with her child.

+  She has a greater understanding of domestic 
abuse and knows how to seek help in the 
future should she need it, including around safe 
contact with her child’s father.

+  She is receiving ongoing parenting support to 
ensure a positive outcome for her child.

SUPPORT GIVEN
+  Risk assessment to understand the risk posed by Emily’s  

ex partner and how risks can be managed.

+  Homelessness application to local authority.

+  Support to apply for Housing benefit, universal credit, child benefit, 
grants to gain household items.

+  Domestic abuse support to increase knowledge of identifying 
abusive behaviours and what is healthy in a relationship.

+  Support to access local medical services for baby including  
health visiting, immunisations and weaning advice.

+  Referral to Children’s Social Care Early Help at point of move on.

CASE STUDIES
01

04
05

02

03

37GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

CASE STUDIES

GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

P
age 55



12
STALKING

ENTRY POINT
+  Claire reported her ex-partner to police after he began 

bombarding her with messages after the breakdown in 
their relationship. She also reported criminal damage to 
her vehicle. 

+  Multiple medium risk reports were made and picked up 
by the Stalking Clinic who escalated the risk to high. 

+  A high-risk Vulnerability Identification Screening Tool 
(VIST) was submitted to GDASS who identified stalking 
behaviour and made a referral to the Independent 
Stalking Advocacy Caseworker (ISAC)

SPECIFIC NEEDS IDENTIFIED
+  Claire needed to understand why her ex-partner was behaving like this; 

what could be done to stop this behaviour; she needed practical help  
to make her feel safer including the security of her property.

+  Claire also wanted reassurance about the police process and the  
non-molestation order as she did not qualify for legal aid.

FOLLOW ON SUPPORT
+  ISAC provided ongoing safety planning advice about steps Claire is 

taking to move forward with her life and assisting with safety planning 
when her ex-partner is released from prison.

+ The Stalking Clinic is providing ongoing oversight.

LINKS TO OTHER SERVICES / SUPPORT
+  ISAC liaised with IDVA service to avoid duplication and overwhelming  

Claire with services. 

+  Stalking Clinic multi agency meeting convened for information sharing and to 
support a robust investigation plan by police with various tactics explored. 

+  Referral to Safer Cyber Unit.

+  Liaison with Harm Reduction Officer, Stalking Clinic and GDASS floating 
support on Claire’s behalf.

+  Liaising with officers about the Restraining Order request to offer longer  
term protection.

OUTCOMES
+  Claire’s ex-partner was jailed and given a 

lengthy Restraining Order.

+  She is now moving on with her life, 
encouraged that her ex-partner has been 
made to stop his actions. 

+  Claire has faith in the criminal justice system 
to protect her if her ex-partner resumes  
his abuse.

SUPPORT GIVEN
+  ISAC made contact with Claire by text message, then sent 

leaflets on the ISAC role, stalking risk and relevant legislation

+  DASH risk assessment completed was submitted to MARAC  
and to Stalking Clinic.

+  ISAC offered reassurance to Claire about the way she was 
feeling; providing context about how stalking impacts victims

+  Information and support with ongoing non-molestation order 
provided for Family Court and liaison with Claire’s employers to 
support safety planning.

+  Claire was supported with online abuse after her ex-partner was 
arrested, incidents/ongoing behaviours were reported to police 
on her behalf, and she was kept updated about court processes. 

CASE STUDIES
01

04
05

02

03

38GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

CASE STUDIES

GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

P
age 56



GDASS IDVA
Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Support Service (GDASS)  
Independent Domestic Violence Advisor (IDVA)

ENTRY POINT
+  Self-referral, recommended to call GDASS by friend  

who had previously accessed support

+ High risk DASH completed

SUPPORT GIVEN
+  Urgent Strategy meeting requested

+ Safety planning

+ Working closely with police to recover travel documents

+ Places of Safety referral completed

+  Met with tutor and Safeguarding Officer at college – changed lesson 
routine so it was less easy to track and follow Rachel. Picture of 
perpetrator given to College.

+ Arranged for Rachels car to be checked by police for tracking devices

+  Worked with Cheltenham Borough Homes to arrange for a 
Discretionary Housing Payment to be made.

+  Supported to reach financial independence (Universal credit, changing 
online banking details, secured personal devices)

OUTCOMES
+  Currently in a GDASS Place of Safety

+  Accessing ongoing Floating Support 

+  Financial independence

+  Risk of children being taken out of the country reduced

SPECIFIC NEEDS 
IDENTIFIED
+  Immediate safety of Rachel and her  

three children

+  Unsafe accommodation as shared  
with perpetrator

+  Risk of children being taken out of  
the country

+  Cultural barriers. Rachel is from an 
African country and is Muslim.

+  High levels of control, Rachels home  
was covered by CCTV, Ring Doorbell  
and Listening Devices.

12CASE STUDIES

01

04

05

02
03

FOLLOW ON SUPPORT
+  Rachel is accessing legal support in order to 

obtain a Child Arrangement Order and Non-
Molestation Order.

+  GDASS Floating Support and Place of Safety

LINKS TO OTHER 
SERVICES / SUPPORT
+  During support the IDVA and Rachel worked 

with: Cheltenham Borough Homes / Police / 
Childrens Social Care  / College / Legal support

39GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

CASE STUDIES

GLOUCESTERSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE STRATEGY 2021-2024

P
age 57



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
We want to thank all those victims/survivors who have shared their 
stories with us through our engagement survey.  We are also indebted 
to the Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Partnership Board for their 
energy, enthusiasm and commitment to working together to develop this 
strategy.  Special thanks go in particular to the County Council Domestic 
Abuse Commissioning Manager and the County Domestic Abuse and 
Sexual Violence (DASV) Strategic Coordinator for their time, expertise 
and knowledge in supporting the Partnership through the process.

FURTHER INFORMATION
For further information about any aspect of this strategy please contact 
glostakeastand@gloucestershire.pnn.police.uk

P
age 58

mailto:?subject=


Children and Families Scrutiny Committee 
10th March, 2022 

Report Title 
 

School Exclusions in Gloucestershire – Update Report 

Purpose of 
Report 
 

 

To provide CFSOC with a summary overview of the longitudinal 
position with regard to permanent exclusions from schools in the 
county and the emerging picture for academic years 2020-21 and 
2021-22. 
 
Information is collected by the DfE via the school census three 
times each year (two terms in arrears) from all Local Authority’s in 
respect of permanent exclusions and suspensions. Data includes: 

• Reasons schools report for excluding pupils 

• Exclusions for different pupil groups 

• Independent exclusion review panels 
 
Councillors are asked to note: 
 

1. The last complete and published data set for permanent 
exclusions and suspensions (formerly fixed term 
exclusions) is 2019-20. National published data is expected 
for 2020-21 by July 2022. 

2. For the purposes of this report locally held data is used for 
2020-21 and part year 2021-22 data trends. 

3. The 2019/20 academic year was interrupted by the first 
national lockdown on 23 March 2020, during the spring 
term. Schools remained open for vulnerable children and 
children of key workers. While permanent exclusions and 
suspensions were still possible throughout the academic 
year, school closures have had a substantial effect on the 
number of permanent exclusions and suspensions and 
therefore caution should be taken when comparing figures 
across years where 2020-21 and 2021-22 are included in 
the range. 

 

Is this for information or decision? 
 

For Information 

Author 
 

Kirsten Harrison, Director of 
Education 

Organisation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Gloucestershire County Council; 
Children’s Services 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Key Issues:   

Page 59

Agenda Item 6



 
1. Permanent Exclusion Overview from the last national published data 

set (2019-2020) 
 

1.1 Gloucestershire has a history of high rates of permanent exclusion (PEX) 

amongst statistical neighbours, South West regional Local Authorities 

(LAs) and nationally, however this trend from 2015-16 was being halted, 

particularly in the primary phase where rates were decreasing up to the 

published data 2019-20. Table 1 shows PEX by academic year and 

2021/22 year to date, with national comparisons where available. 

 
Table 1: Overview of PEX Trends 2013-14 – 2019-20 
 

 

    2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Primary Number 19 26 31 31 30 16 15 

  Rate 0.04% 0.06% 0.07% 0.07% 0.06% 0.03% 0.03% 

 
National 
Rate 0.02% 0.02% 0.02% 0.03% 0.03% 0.02% 0.02% 

 
National 
rank 12 8 5 17 22 72 46 

 SN rank 1 2 1 2 3 8 3 

 
SW 
rank 1 2 1 3 7 12 10 

Secondary Number 71 89 106 110 108 95 58 

  Rate 0.19% 0.23% 0.28% 0.29% 0.28% 0.25% 0.15% 

 
National 
rate 0.13% 0.15% 0.17% 0.20% 0.20% 0.20% 0.12% 

 
National 
Rank 48 29 28 43 52 63 90 

 
SN 
Rank 2 1 1 1 3 5 7 

 
SW 
rank 5 4 2 4 6 9 11 

ALL (inc 
Spec & 
APS) Number 93 115 140 142 138 112 73 

  Rate 0.11% 0.14% 0.17% 0.17% 0.16% 0.13% 0.08% 

 
National 
rate 0.06% 0.07% 0.08% 0.10% 0.10% 0.10% 0.06% 

 
         

 

1.2 From 2016/17, where rates of permanent exclusions peaked, there was 

evidence of permanent exclusions reducing by 0.09% from 2015/16 to 

2019/20. 

1.3 Based on the DfE published data, the permanent exclusion rate (the 

percentage of January school population excluded) for all state-funded 

primary, secondary and special schools in Gloucestershire decreased 

from 0.11 per cent in 2018/19 to 0.05 per cent in 2019/20.  

1.4 The rate had been slowly decreasing Gloucestershire’s ranking from 77th 

highest out of 152 LAs in 2019/20 (compared to 16th in 2015/16). The 

rate was the 8th lowest amongst statistical neighbours and 12th lowest in 

the South West region.  

Page 60



1.5 Due to the Covid-19 pandemic and closure of schools to most pupils 

from March 2020, overall permanent exclusion rates decreased 

nationally.  

1.6 In Gloucestershire, the rate reduced to bring it in line with England for the 

first time in that six-year period and although still slightly higher than the 

statistical neighbour group average, the rate was lower than the South 

West average also for the first time in six years as can be seen in Chart 

1. 

 

Chart 1 
 

.  

1.7 Approximately 12 per cent of the South West school population is registered in 
Gloucestershire schools with less than ten per cent of all permanent exclusions 
in the South West occurring in Gloucestershire (52 out of 556 in the region). In 
2019/20 just 9 of the South West region 115 reported permanent exclusions in 
primary schools were in Gloucestershire (8% of all South West primary 
exclusions and 10% of secondary exclusions recorded in Gloucestershire). 

 

1.8 Permanent exclusion rates in Gloucestershire in 2019-20 were in-line with 
those reported nationally; in order to bring the rates in line with Statistical 
Neighbour group average there would have needed to be approximately 4 
fewer permanent exclusions. Table 2a illustrates Gloucestershire’s 
performance in 2019-20 in all school sectors against England, statistical 
neighbours and the South West comparators. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Table 2a 
 

0

0.02

0.04

0.06

0.08

0.1

0.12

0.14

0.16

0.18

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

To
ta

l p
e

rm
an

e
n

t 
e

xc
lu

si
o

n
s 

fr
o

m
 s

ch
o

o
l 

as
 %

 o
f 

th
e

 s
ch

o
o

l p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

Gloucestershire England Statistical Neighbours South West

Page 61



 
 
 
Table 2b illustrates the yearly ranking changes for Gloucestershire across the 
2014-15 to 2019-20 time period highlighting the improving picture of reduced 
permanent exclusions. 
 
Table 2b 
 

        
 
1.9 Reasons for Exclusion - 2019-20 
 
Persistent disruptive behaviour remained the most common reason for permanent 
exclusion in Gloucestershire schools, all phases combined, accounting for 19 (36.5 
per cent) of all permanent exclusions in 2019/20. The wider range of reasons is 
illustrated in  Chart 2. 
 
Chart 2: Reasons for permanent exclusions in Gloucestershire state-funded 
schools 
 

 

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

Bullying

Damage

Drug and alcohol related

Other

Persistent disruptive behaviour

Physical assault against an adult

Physical assault against a pupil

Racist abuse

Sexual misconduct

Theft

Verbal assault against an adult

Verbal assault against a pupil

Number of permanent exclusions

2019/20

2018/19

2017/18

2016/17

Page 62



 
 
Primary Phase Permanent Exclusion 
 
1.9.1.In 2019/20, the most common reason for permanent exclusion in 
Gloucestershire primary schools was persistent disruptive behaviour – four 
permanent exclusions were due to this reason. 
  
1.9.2The next most common reason was physical assault against an adult. This 
reason represented the biggest proportion, 41 per cent, of all primary permanent 
exclusions nationally. This is in contrast to the previous year when, in 
Gloucestershire, almost two thirds of permanent exclusions were cited due to 
physical assault against an adult and the only other reason reported was persistent 
disruptive behaviour. 
 
 
Secondary Phase Permanent Exclusion 
 
1.9.3. In Gloucestershire secondary schools, there was a greater spread of 
reasons for permanent exclusions with over a third for persistent disruptive 
behaviour and almost 24 per cent for ‘other’ reasons.  
 
1.9.4 The next most common reasons were physical assault against a pupil which 
increased to 12.64 per cent from 9.3 per cent in 2018/19 and physical assault 
against an adult which increased to 12.5 per cent of all permanent exclusions in 
2019/20 compared to 3.5 per cent the previous year. There were no permanent 
exclusions for damage, theft, racist abuse or bullying reported by secondary 
schools in 2019/20. Table 3 provides the percentage of exclusions by reason and 
phase against  
 
Table 3 Percentage of permanent exclusions by reason and phase (2019/20) 
 
 

 Primary Secondary Special Total 

 Glos Eng Glos Eng Glos Eng Glos Eng 

Physical assault 
against pupil - 10.83% 11.63% 13.00% 

- 
8.16% 9.62% 12.64% 

Physical assault 
against adult 22.22% 41.00% - 7.24% 

- 
40.82% 3.85% 12.50% 

Verbal abuse against 
pupil 11.11% 3.11% - 3.96% 

- 
6.12% 1.92% 3.86% 

Verbal abuse against 
adult 11.11% 6.50% 9.30% 7.85% 

- 
6.12% 9.62% 7.63% 

Bullying 
- 0.27% - 0.35% 

- 
2.04% - 0.36% 

Racist abuse 
- 0.27% - 0.26% 

- 
- - 0.26% 

Sexual Misconduct 
11.11% 0.54% - 0.82% 

- 
- 1.92% 0.77% 

Drug and alcohol 
related - 0.14% 16.28% 11.99% 

- 
- 13.46% 10.14% 

Damage 
- 0.68% - 1.41% 

- 
- - 1.29% 

Theft 
- 0.00% - 0.45% 

- 
- - 0.38% 

Persistent disruptive 
behaviour 44.44% 31.12% 34.88% 35.25% 

- 
18.37% 36.54% 34.49% 

Page 63



Other 
- 5.55% 27.91% 17.43% 

- 
18.37% 23.08% 15.70% 

 
 
1.9.5 Permanent disruptive behaviour is also the most common reason for 
suspension; over a quarter of all suspensions in Gloucestershire state-funded 
schools were for this reason in 2019/20.  
 

There were increases in the proportions of suspensions due to physical assault 
(against adult and pupil), verbal assault against a pupil, sexual misconduct and 
persistent disruptive behaviour. 
 

2. Exclusions By Characteristics 
 
2.1 The published data on exclusions by pupil characteristics in Gloucestershire 
state-funded schools for 2019/20 shows a similar picture to previous years and 
nationally; higher rates of exclusions occur for boys, pupils with SEN, pupils known 
to be eligible for and claiming free school meals and pupils in the later National 
Curriculum Years 9, 10 and 11. 
 
2.2 In 2019/20, for all state-funded schools in Gloucestershire, boys were 6 times 
more likely than girls to receive a permanent exclusion, and 2.7 times more likely to 
receive a suspension.  
 
2.3 In Gloucestershire primary schools, all permanent exclusions and 92 per cent 
of all suspension incidences were for boys (508 out of 550); nationally 87 per cent 
of all primary suspensions were for boys.  
 
2.4 Boys in Gloucestershire secondary schools were accountable for 84 per cent of 
permanent exclusions (compared to 75 per cent nationally) and 70 per cent of all 
suspensions (compared to 68 per cent nationally). The proportion of permanent 
exclusions for boys increased in 2019/20 from 65% in 2017/18 and 69% in 
2018/19; proportions for suspensions remained stable over this time. 
 
Table 4    Exclusions by gender; all state-funded schools 2019-20 
 

  
 

Permanent 
exclusions 

Suspensions 
Pupil enrolments 
with one or more 
suspension 

   Boys Girls Boys Girls Boys Girls 

England   Number 3,871 1,182 222,726 87,286 111,234 43,060 

                 Rate 0.09 0.03 5.30 2.16 2.64 1.06 

Proportion of all 77% 23% 72% 28% 72% 28% 

Glos  Number 45 7 2,694 989 1,252 465 

 
Rate 0.10 0.02 6.00 2.27 2.79 1.07 

Proportion of all 87% 13% 73% 27% 73% 27% 

 
 
Special Educational Needs 
 

Page 64



2.5 Just over half (52 per cent) of all permanent exclusions in Gloucestershire in 
2019/20 were for pupils with identified special educational needs (SEN) which 
included pupils with Statements of SEN / EHC plan and pupils with SEN support. 
This was a higher proportion than national (45.2 per cent) and was mostly due to 
the higher proportion of SEN exclusions in secondary schools. Chart 2 provides an 
overview of permanent exclusions by SEND and phase in 2019-20. 
 
 
Chart 3 Permanent Exclusions 2019-20 by SEND & Phase 
 

 
 
2.6 The biggest change in permanent exclusion rates was for pupils with SEN 
Support which decreased by 61.5 per cent from 2018/19; the rate for pupils with no 
SEN decreased by 48 per cent, and for pupils with Statement of SEN or EHCP the 
rate decreased by 44 per cent in 2019-20.  
 
2.7 The gap between rates of permanent exclusions for pupils with SEN 
Statements or EHC plans and rates of permanent exclusions for pupils with no 
identified SEN in Gloucestershire had decreased from 0.30  
percentage points in 2018/19 to 0.17 percentage points in 2019/20. 
 
Chart 4 Rates of Permanent Exclusion by SEN 
 

8 648

19 1585

0

49

27 2282

1 91

24 2680

0

0

25 2771

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Glos Eng Glos Eng Glos Eng Glos Eng

Primary Secondary Special TOTALP
e

rc
e

n
ta

ge
 o

f 
p

e
rm

an
e

n
t 

e
xc

lu
si

o
n

SEN No SEN

Page 65



 
 
 
2.8 Concurrently pupils with SEN Statements or EHCP had the highest suspension 
rate for 2019/20 at 12.84 per cent - almost five times higher than pupils with no 
SEN (2.64 per cent).  
 
Table 5 Suspensions by SEN (all state funded schools) 
 

  Number Rate 

Pupils with SEN statement or an EHC plan Eng 31,898 11.70 

 Glos 380 12.84 

Pupils with SEN support Eng 108,047 10.98 

 Glos 1,355 11.55 

Pupils with no SEN Eng 170,067 2.43 

 Glos 1,948 2.64 

TOTAL Eng 310,012 3.76 

 Glos 3,683 4.16 

 
 

Exclusions by National Curriculum Year 
 

2.9 In 2019/20, over two-thirds of all permanent exclusions in Gloucestershire (69.2 
per cent) and over half (60.0 per cent) of suspensions occurred in National 
Curriculum Year 9 and above.  
 
2.10 The rate of permanent exclusion for pupils in NCY 11 was higher in 
Gloucestershire than nationally but lower in the other secondary-phase year 
groups as illustrated in Chart 5.  
 
Chart 5: Rates of permanent exclusion by National Curriculum Year 

0.06
0.03

0.36

0.20

0.00

0.10

0.20

0.30

0.40

0.50

0.60

0.70

0.80

201415 201516 201617 201718 201819 201920

R
at

e
s 

o
f 

P
e

rm
an

e
n

t 
Ex

cl
u

si
o

n

No SEN SEN support SEN EHCP

Page 66



 

 
    
Eligibility for Free School Meals 
 
2.11 Rates of permanent exclusion for pupils known to be eligible for and claiming 
free school meals in Gloucestershire were three times those of permanent 
exclusions for pupils not eligible (nationally the eligible rate was five times higher).  
 
Table 6 Gloucestershire Rates of exclusion by FSM eligibility 
 

   Permanent exclusions Suspensions 
Pupil enrolments with one or 
more suspension 

   Eligible Not Eligible Eligible Not Eligible Eligible Not Eligible 

England   
Primary 0.05 0.01 2.73 0.63 1.33 0.33 

                 Secondary 0.35 0.08 19.37 5.14 8.43 2.78 

 
Special 0.05 0.03 10.94 5.69 5.28 2.84 

 
TOTAL 0.16 0.04 9.34 2.58 4.17 1.39 

Glos  
Primary 0.05 0.01 3.55 0.77 1.82 0.40 

 
Secondary 0.33 0.08 25.98 5.91 11.02 2.80 

 
Special - - 2.14 1.29 1.19 0.59 

 
TOTAL 0.15 0.05 11.60 3.12 5.12 1.49 

 
 
Ethnicity and Permanent Exclusion 
 
 
2.12 As with nationally, rates of exclusions (the number of exclusions as a 
proportion of the headcount of pupils) are highest for those whose ethnicity is 
Unclassified.  
 
2.13 In Gloucestershire, rates of exclusions for pupils belonging to the Black and 
Minority Ethnicity groupings (commonly identified as those whose Ethnicity is other 

0.00

0.05

0.10

0.15

0.20

0.25

1 and
below

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 and
above

R
at

e
s 

o
f 

p
e

rm
an

e
n

t 
e

xc
lu

si
o

n
s 

as
 %

 o
f 

ag
e

 
gr

o
u

p

National Curriculum year

Eng 19/20 Glos 19/20

Page 67



than White British or Unclassified) is higher than the rates for White British pupils, 
whereas nationally the reverse is true. 
 
Table 7 Exclusion Rates by Ethnicity 
 

  
Permanent exclusions Suspensions 

Pupil enrolments with one 
or more suspension 

Minority Ethnicity Eng 
0.05 2.69 1.63 

 Glos 
0.06 4.60 2.16 

White British Eng 
0.07 4.25 1.97 

 Glos 
0.04 4.02 1.87 

Unclassified Eng 
0.11 5.85 2.84 

 Glos 
0.26 6.49 2.98 

TOTAL Eng 
0.06 3.76 1.87 

 Glos 
0.06 4.16 1.94 

 

 
2.14 Rates of permanent exclusion in Gloucestershire during 2019/20 were highest 
for Black Caribbean and Mixed White and Black African and pupils, whilst 
nationally the highest rates were found among Gypsy Roma and Mixed White and 
Black Caribbean pupils. 
 
3.Unpublished data trends 2020-21 and 2021-22 (part year) 
 
3.1 Please note that rates of PEX are only meaningful when looking at as whole 
academic year data..  
3.2The number of exclusions in Gloucestershire tends to differ from locally held 
data with the published data. Caution should be used when comparing rates of 
exclusion mid-year to previous (whole year) rates and published and unpublished 
data. The published data for 2020-21 is expected in July 2022. 
3.3The trend indicators on the number of Permanent Exclusions are representative 
of trends only and are not all to the same scale. Rates of exclusion are always 
calculated as (Number of PEX / Number in Cohort)*100 
3.4The 2019/20 academic year was interrupted by the first national lockdown on 23 
March 2020, during the spring term. Schools remained open for vulnerable children 
and children of key workers. While permanent exclusions and suspensions were 
still possible throughout the academic year, school closures have had a substantial 
effect on the number of permanent exclusions and suspensions and therefore 
caution should be taken when comparing figures across years where 2020-21 and 
2021-22 are included in the range. 
3.5Whilst the 2020-21 indicators are for a continued reducing trend, this must be 
seen against the backdrop of school closures. Figures to date for 2021-22 indicate 
a rising trend in permanent exclusions. 

 
Table 8 Number and rates of permanent exclusions by year with England rate 
comparisons 
 

Page 68



1  
 
3.6Comparing the number of permanent exclusions during the month with previous 
years allows us to identify any emerging trends and issues. Throughout this data 
set, a 5-year average has been used in order to compare any year with the 
previous. Covid interruptions in 2019-20 and 2020-21 mean that this is not the 
most stable of data to make comparisons to so the average 2014-15 to 2018-19 
has also been used. 
3.7The month by month data illustrates the impacts of school closures on the 
number of PEX during lockdown and indicates significant spikes in December and 
January of the current academic year. 
 
 
Chart 6 Number of Gloucestershire PEX by Month 
 
 

 
 
3.8Table 9 shows the cumulative number of PEX for a fixed point in the academic 
year. The visualisation of trends in numbers of PEX compared to the same point in 
previous years, shows at a glance if numbers at each phase are reducing or on an 
upwards trajectory or have remained the same. 
 
3.9Table 9 illustrates the latest monthly complete data set of January 2022 
reflecting the January spike shown at a Table 9 by phase. The significant rise in 
January is predominantly attributable to the secondary phase with a significant 
increase in the month in the primary phase. 
 

Page 69



Table 9   Cumulative Number of PEX (based on selected Month) Data - 
January 
 

 
 
3.10  This academic year (2021-22) there have been 52 PEX recorded as at the 
end of January 2022 which is an overall increase of 53% from previous year (Sept 
– Jan 2021/22 = 34 permanent exclusions). Please note that the majority of 
schools were closed to all but vulnerable or key worker children during January 
2021 hence 2 PEX recorded (compared to 10 during January 2022). 
 
3.11. There has been an increase of PEX in primary schools of 9 for the period 
September to January 2021/22 compared to same period the previous year, with 
the numbers of Secondary PEX also increasing by 9 over the same period.  
 
3.12    With the exception of the Forest of Dean, all districts had increased 
numbers of permanent exclusions compared to the same period the previous year 
(again mindful of school closures in January 2021).  
 
3.13  The biggest increases can be seen in Stroud and Tewkesbury districts 
(secondary permanent exclusions increasing from 2 to 7 and 3 to 7 respectively). 
There has been an increase from zero to 5 permanent exclusions in the primary 
schools in Cheltenham.   
 

4. Exclusions by Reason 2020-21 and emerging trends 
 
4.1 The most common reason for permanent exclusions remains Persistent 
Disruptive Behaviour.  
 
4.2 Proportions of PEX due to Other reasons have decreased because this code is 

no longer in use. The proportions of PEX due to Physical Assault (against adult 
and pupil) have increased from 9.6% and 8.3% during 2014/15 to 2018/19 (the 
5-year total) to 18.3% and 18.3% respectively in the academic year 2020/21.  

4.3 This increasing trend looks set to continue with over 42% of PEX in 2021/22 to 
date for Physical Assault against pupil or adult. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 70



 
Table 10 Proportion of Permanent Exclusion by Reason 
 

 
 
 
5 Permanent Exclusion by characteristics – 2020-21  
 
5.1 Charts 7 and 8 provide a summary overview of rates of permanent exclusion by 

key characteristics for 2020-1. The red line is the Gloucestershire PEX rate. 
 

 
Chart 7 Rates of Permanent Exclusion by characteristic 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 71



 
Chart 8 Proportions of permanent Exclusions by Characteristics of 
pupils 
 
 

 
 
 

5.2 The overview indicates increases in PEX in 2020-21 for groups where 
emerging data for 2021-22 indicates that PEX for those groups is continuing to 
increase in this new academic year: Students with EHCPs, students eligible for 
FSM (It should be noted that in this period there has been a significant increase in 
students eligible and claiming FSM) and ‘unclassified ethnicity’. 

 
 

By National Curriculum Year: 
 

5.3 PEX by National Curriculum Year remains generally in line with patterns in the 
published data 2019-20, however there is an emerging increase in NCY 9 and 10 
where we are currently only half way through academic year 2021-22 as illustrated 
by Chart 9 with KS4 and KS3 representing the highest proportion of PEX in the 
academic year to date. 
 

 
Chart 9:  2021-22 PEX by Key Stage 
 

 
 

 5.4  Table 11 provides a breakdown of the proportions of PEX by NCY in 2020-21 
and 2021-22.  

Page 72



        The increased proportion of KS4 students sits with National Curriculum Year 
10 and in KS3 with NCY 9. 
 
Table 11 Number of PEX by NCY 

 
 

 
 
 Gender 
 
5.5 . As reported nationally, boys continue to have higher exclusion rates than girls. 
The comparison of 2020-21 compared to the average of the last 5 years shows 
that, the proportions of permanent exclusions for White British pupils and Boys are 
stable.  
 
Table 12  Rates of Permanent Exclusion by Gender 

 
 
5.6  Currently there appears to be a larger proportion of permanent exclusions for 
pupils with an EHCP, and for those eligible for free school meals. This is reflected 
in Chart 7 where, compared to the Gloucestershire PEX rate of 0.07% (red line), 
Boys’ PEX rate is 0.10%, FSM Eligible pupils’ rate is 0.26% pupils with EHCP rate 
is 0.22% and for those with SEN Support it’s 0.23%. 
 
    SEND 
 
5.7  In this academic year to date, the pupils with EHCP who have been PEX are 

all from primary schools – 8 out of the 15 primary PEX have been for pupils with 
EHCP. (This proportion is in line with 2020/21 but an overall increase from 
previous years). The primary needs for these children permanently excluded 
with EHCP are all recorded as Social, Emotional, Mental Health (SEMH). 

 
   
 
 
 

Page 73



Table 13 Number of PEX by SEND 
 

                  
 
 
  Table 14 Rates of Permanent Exclusion by SEND 2020-21 relative to 2019-20 
 

 
 
Table 15 2021-22 To date EHCP PEX By Phase 
 

 
 

 
Table 16 PEX Pupils with EHCP – break down by primary need 

 
 

 
 

5.8 A key factor to note is the increasing number of requests to assess for students 
with SMEH and the increasing challenges of meeting this primary need in the 
mainstream sector. 

 
 

Proportion of PEX with EHCP: breakdown by phase

5-yr Total 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Primary 25.4% 33.3% 54.5% 53.3%

Secondary 4.3% 3.4% 6.3% 0.0%

Special 100.0% - - -

APS 25.0% - 0.0% 0.0%

ALL 9.0% 9.6% 15.0% 15.4%

Page 74



Free School Meals 
 
Table 16 Proportion of PEX by FSM Eligibility 

 

 
 

5.9There has been a significant increase in Free School Meal eligibility since 
March 2020 and the first lockdown and school closures accompanying the well-
known impacts on families and children and young people that the pandemic has 
delivered. The increase is illustrated in Chart 10. There has been an increase in 
PEX for students eligible FSM in that same time frame. 

 
Chart 10: 
 

 
 
 
 
 6.  Pre and post Covid Lockdown impacts on permanent exclusion trends 
 
 6.1 An analysis of the reason codes for PEX has highlighted the changes pre and 
post Covid lockdown (using April 2020 as the mid-point); the pie charts at Chart 11 
evidence the changing proportions showing a clear change for persistent disruptive 
behaviour, Physical assault against an adult and Physical assault against a pupil. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0

10,000

Ju
l-
…

A
u
…

Se
…

O
ct
…

N
o
…

D
e
…

Ja
n
…

Fe
…

M
a…

A
p
r…

M
a…

Ju
n
…

Ju
l-
…

A
u
…

Se
…

O
ct
…

N
o
…

D
e
…

Ja
n
…

Increase in pupils eligible for free 
school meals since March 2020 

Increase since Mar -20 Increase since 1st Sept 20 Increase since 1st Jan 21

Page 75



 
Chart 11 The Proportion of PEX by Reason Pre and Post Covid  

 

 
 

6.2  The chart reflects the increasing trend around persistent disruptive behaviour 
as a reason for permanent exclusion. It would be reasonable to speculate that this 
trend is also linked to the impacts of time out of school and school routine and the 
challenge for some young people of the return to school. 
 
7.Returning children to a mainstream school following permanent exclusion 
 
Fair Access Protocol 
 
7.1The FAP is a mechanism developed by the local authority in partnership with all 
schools in their area. Its aim is to ensure that vulnerable children, and those who 
are having difficulty in securing a school place in-year, are allocated a school place 
as quickly as possible.  
 
7.2Every local authority must have a FAP in place. Once it has been agreed by the 
majority of schools in its area, all admission authorities must participate in it. FAPs 
play a key role in helping to keep children safe by ensuring the most vulnerable 
children are able to access education as quickly as possible.  
 
7.3FAPs should provide a fair and transparent system to ensure that all schools 
share the collective responsibility of helping the most vulnerable, by admitting their 
fair share of children being placed via the Fair Access Panel. This includes 
supporting those children who have been permanently excluded from other schools 
and those who display challenging behaviour. 
 
7.4Once FAP arrangements have been agreed with the majority of schools in its 
area, all admission authorities must participate in it. Admission authorities, school 
leaders and local authorities work collaboratively in making decisions under the 
FAP. They take into account the needs of the child and the views of the school 
where the child might be placed. 

Page 76



7.5There is no duty to comply with parental preference when allocating places 
through the FAP but parents’ wishes are taken into account.  
7.6When seeking to place a child through the FAP, no school (including those with 
places available) are  asked to take a disproportionate number of children who 
have been permanently excluded from other schools, who display challenging 
behaviour, or who are otherwise being placed via the FAP.  
7.7Admission authorities must admit children when asked to do so in accordance 
with the FAP. Where an admission authority fails to comply with the FAP, they may 
be directed to do so. 
 
 Fair Access Overview Data 
 
7.8Between 2018 and 2022, 150 permanent exclusions have been reviewed by the 
FAP panel.  

 
 

Number Outcome 

50 Referred back to Alternative 
Provision 

100 Had a named school 

49 Failed return to school and 
returned to Alternative 
Provision 

8 Students chose to remain at 
APS 

1 Moved out of county 

1 Found a school other than FAP 
allocation 

6 Elective Home Education 

1 Post 16 

2 Possible CME 

32 Reintegrated into another 
school 

1 Independent alternative 
provision 

 
 
8. Wider Work in Train to Tackle the underlying causes of permanent 
Exclusion 
 
8.1 There is a complex and wide range of factors contributing to the permanent 
exclusion picture in Gloucestershire each of which could arguably be the focus of 
scrutiny by the CFSOC. The list below is not exhaustive but indicates some key 
areas of education actions in train seeking to address underlying causes: 
 

• Inclusion Strategy 2022-2026 – Building on the Joint High Needs Strategy 
2018-2021 

• SEND Strategy  2022-2026 

• Families, Children and Young People’s Mental Health, well-being and 
resilience 

• Alternative provision transformation project 

Page 77



• Establishment of a Gloucestershire Education Forum 

• The role of selective education in the inclusion agenda – widening 
participation 

• Academisation 
 

Recommendations to the Committee:  

 
To note the overview and trends in permanent exclusions across Gloucestershire’s 
local education system. 
 
To consider what further information the committee would wish on the areas of 
work identified at 8.1 
 
 

Financial/Resource Implications:  

 
There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 78



 

1 
 

 
 
 

Gloucestershire Early Help: 
Overview of Provision 2021 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 

Page 79

Agenda Item 7



 

2 
 

 
 
Contents 
 
1.0 Overview ......................................................................................................................... 3 

2.0 Infographic of our Early Help offer ................................................................................. 4 

3.0 Community Social Workers ............................................................................................. 4 

4.0 Partnership Managers..................................................................................................... 5 

5.0 Early Help Coordinators (EHCO) ..................................................................................... 5 

6.0 Triple P Parenting ............................................................................................................ 6 

7.0 Reducing Parental Conflict (RPC) Programme ................................................................ 7 

8.0 Early Help Triage and Family Information Service .......................................................... 7 

9.0 Family Group Conferencing Service ................................................................................ 8 

10.0 Family First Family Support Teams ............................................................................. 8 

11.0 Children’s and Family Centres ................................................................................... 10 

12.0 Supporting Families Programme ............................................................................... 10 

Appendix 1 – Levels of Intervention Guidance ........................................................................ 12 

Appendix 2 – Practice Guide .................................................................................................... 13 

 
  

 
Version control 
 

Issue Date Author Change history 

1.0 7 September 2021 Clarisse Forgues First working draft 

1.1 17 September 2021 Clarisse Forgues Overview added, children centre info 
added, GSCB logo added 

1.2 20 September Andy Dempsey Various amendments/updates 

1.3 21 September Clarisse Forgues Appendices added 

1.4 23 September Clarisse Forgues Windscreen added 

1.5 12 October Karen 
Morgan/Andy 
Dempsey 

EH & TS data added 

1.6 24 November Emma Trigwell / 
Clarisse Forgues 

Various amendments/updates 

1.7 9 December Clarisse Forgues EH infographics added as appendix1 

1.8 17 December Clarisse Forgues EH infographics moved to after overview 

1.9 18 January 2022 Clarisse Forgues EH infographics amended 

Page 80



 

3 
 

 

 
1.0 Overview 

 

Gloucestershire Children’s Services has an expansive and well-resourced early help and 

targeted support offer which aims to mobilise the wider partnership in support of 

children and families at the earliest opportunity and provides family support, parenting 

interventions & family group conferences, based on needs, risk and circumstances.  

Early Help support is co-ordinated through  multi-agency locality partnerships aligned 

with our social care localities. A comprehensive range of information, advice, guidance 

and support is available to families and practitioners through the Family Information 

Service, GlosFamilies Directory, Early Help & Targeted Support teams, Education and 

Inclusion Service and information on Special Educational Needs and Disability is 

provided through the Local Offer.  

 

Advice, guidance and support is provided to partners by our EH Partnership Managers, 

Early Help Coordinators (EHCO’s) and Community Social Workers. This is further 

supported by our Family Support Teams and Children and Families Centres who 

together provide a 0-19 yrs. family support offer, including the provision of family 

support into CiN and CP plans when needed. 

 

Partnership Managers are linked to our localities (Gloucester, Forest of Dean, 

Cheltenham & Tewkesbury and Stroud & Cotswolds). They are an outward facing 

community resource, engaging key partners (community and voluntary groups; police; 

community safety; housing associations etc.). Their role involves brokering  strong 

partnerships and promoting  the strategic direction for early safeguarding responses 

towards high profile themes including: contextual safeguarding; responding to rising 

numbers of young people experiencing poor mental health and reducing Parental 

Conflict.  

 

We use My Plan and My Plan Plus as our assessment and planning tools for early help 

work.  Partner notifications of early help plans (My Plan/My Plan Plus) are entered on 

Liquid Logic as part of our tracking and co-ordination of activity. Currently there are 

around 6,153 My Plan/My Plan Plus plans in place – 4,021 My Plans and 2,132 My Plan 

Plus. Around 4,348 are held by education partners, with our GCC Family Support Teams 

leading on 654 plans and our Children and Family Centres acting as lead professional for 

326 plans. 

 

The primary purpose of this document is to provide an overview for partners and 

stakeholders of the various elements comprising our local Early Help offer.  Attached at 

Appendix 1 our Early Help Practice Guide and at Appendix 2 our multi-agency threshold 

document which was refreshed in January 2021.  

 

Page 81



 

4 
 

2.0 Infographic of our Early Help offer 

 

 
 

 
3.0 Community Social Workers 

 

The Community Social Workers (CSW’s) are non-case holding roles, with the team 

currently comprising of 7 (fte) experienced and qualified social workers and 1 (fte) team 

manager. CSW interventions are aimed at upskilling community practitioners in 

identifying emerging safeguarding issues and managing risk in the community. CSW’s 

facilitate reflective group discussions for Designated Safeguarding Leads to enable them 

to better respond to complex and challenging needs.  In Quarter 1 2021/22, there were 

234 contacts from Community Practitioners seeking advice regarding risk and response 

for children and families, where practitioners did not have immediate safeguarding 

concerns.  

 
Targeted work to improve the quality of our Multi Agency Referral Forms received from 

schools is a further feature of their work. CSWs also promote the use of the Neglect 

screening toolkit by providing training which, due to the pandemic, has been delivered 

through a virtual platform.  Support is offered to partners to apply the neglect toolkit in 

practice and ensure impact of the training. Over the academic year 2019/20, 177 

Page 82



 

5 
 

practitioners from education, health, GCC and 10 other partners, including VCSOs, 

Housing and Police attended Neglect Toolkit training.  

 

In summary, the primary purpose of the CSW’s is to support schools and other partners 

to respond to emerging risk and managing de-escalating risk, in doing so, improve the 

quality of referral information to support social care triage decision making and ease 

the pressure on social care in terms of reducing the need for CIN and CP Plans. The 

CSW’s work with Designated Safeguarding Leads aligns with the governments ‘Social 

Workers in Schools’ Pilot. The CSW resource is viewed positively and highly valued by 

Schools and other partners.  

 

 

4.0 Partnership Managers 

 

The Partnership Manager’s (PM) role is an outward facing community resource, 

engaging key partners (community and voluntary groups; police; community safety; 

housing associations, education etc.). The PM’s work primarily within their four 

localities (Gloucester, Forest of Dean, Cheltenham & Tewkesbury and Stroud & 

Cotswolds) and across the county.  Their role is key in brokering strong partnerships to 

influence the strategic direction and engagement of community partners for early 

safeguarding responses to locality themes including: contextual safeguarding, 

responding to rising numbers of young people experiencing poor mental health and 

reducing Parental Conflict.  

 

Key examples of the PM’s partnership development work includes working with the 

Education Inclusion Service & Restorative Practice Team to develop the team around 

the school (TAS) approach which was aimed at reducing exclusions and promoting 

effective early help responses by supporting vulnerable pupils.  The TAS approach 

underpinned the model for the multi-agency Team Around the Locality Cluster (TALC) 

pilot for children at imminent risk of exclusion and the development of community 

resource networks to bring resources around schools to better meet the holistic needs 

of children & families. In summary, the Partnership Managers’ engage, coordinate, build 

upon and utilise the strengths within the community and of strategic partners. The 

impact of strong partnerships responding jointly to shared priorities cannot be 

underestimated. 

 

5.0    Early Help Coordinators (EHCO) 

 

There are 16 fte EHCOs supporting partners (e.g. schools, early years, nursing and health 

visiting) to respond to the needs of children and families through effective early help 

and utilisation of the Graduated Pathway. Their work includes providing support, advice 

and guidance to enable schools to identify community and early help resources when 

schools are formulating a My Plan and My Plan Plus. On 28th May 2021, EHCOs where 

Page 83



 

6 
 

supporting community lead practitioners to meet the needs of 166 children at Levels 2 

& 3 on the levels of intervention continuum (Appendix 1). The knowledge of community 

and early help resources is a particularly strength of the EHCO’s. EHCO’s enable settings 

including schools to support vulnerable children effectively at an earlier point and on a 

sustained basis. Schools reported this being manageable due to the coordination of 

resources provided by EHCO’s. 

 

The EHCO’s equip schools with the skills to develop robust plans (My Plan and My Plan 

Plus) and their guidance and modelling of good practice around Team around the Family 

(TAF) meetings was a particular strength.  Specific support has included equipping lead 

practitioners to develop the skills and confidence needed to manage complex and 

challenging conversations with parents. EHCO’s deliver a range of professional 

development activities for partners including: 

 

• Bespoke training delivered to in excess of 215 practitioners in the last 12 months 

to a range of community partners and GCC colleagues.  

• 45 practitioners trained through SENCO cluster meetings.   

• Lead Practitioner forums delivered every quarter in each locality with in excess of 

150 practitioners attending in the first 6 months of 2021.  

• Peer support groups facilitated by EHCOs & CSW attended by in excess of 140 

practitioners in the first 6 months of 2021. 

 

In summary, the EHCO’s support schools (and other partners) in the formation and 

delivery of Early Help plans and assessments. They provide schools with detailed 

knowledge of community and early help resources so that plans are equipped with the 

support services needed for positive change to take place for vulnerable children.  

 

6.0     Triple P Parenting  

 

The Triple P Parenting Team comprises of 4.5 fte practitioners, including one 

coordinator.  Delivery has been sustained during the Covid pandemic on a virtual basis 

resulting in higher levels of attendance and engagement by parents. Over the 12 

months April 2020 April 2021 there were a total of  880 referrals for Parenting Support 

accepted for Triple P. The demand for Triple P has increased by 50% on the previous 

year during the Covid Pandemic, with referrals increasing from 82 per quarter (Q1 2020) 

to 315 (Q3 2020).  

 

Delivery during Q3 – 2020, consisted of 29 Discussion groups, 44 Group Programmes, 

17 Family Transitions Programmes and 1 one to one. Around 60% of our referrals are 

for Children age 5-11 years and around 40% are from FIS/MASH, diverting away from 

more intensive or statutory services.  Outcomes from the Triple P Transitions 

programme (for separated parents) show decreased scores in the acrimony scale (from 

61.5 to 57.7)  

Page 84



 

7 
 

 

Outcomes from our Group programmes show improvements in parenting ability 

measured by over reactivity, laxness, and assertiveness move down from 3.2 - 2.2. This 

means parents are more assertive in their parenting and are less harsh in their parenting 

style. There are further outcomes in terms of improvements in parents mental health 

using the DAS scale with  10 points improvement in scores from, potentially, a 2-hour 

discussion group intervention. This improvement is evident across all our Triple P 

programmes 

 

7.0 Reducing Parental Conflict (RPC) Programme 

 

Since its commencement our RPC programme has been aimed at increasing partner 

awareness and capacity in this area.  During 2020/21 a total of 151 practitioners 

attended training, with a further 35 practitioners accessing e-learning. These included 

practitioners from a range of organisations including VCSO’s, Early Years practitioners 

and wider community partners.  The feedback from those attending the training has 

been positive including: helping build confidence and knowledge to facilitate 

conversations with parents about the quality of inter-parental relationships. There has 

also been the development of  web-based resources on GlosFamilies Directory for 

Families. 

 

Moving forward we will continue to embed RPC with partners and explore how 

approaches to RPC can be supported through the activity of the locality partnerships. 

Resources to support relationships continue to be developed for both Parents and 

Practitioners on the Gloucestershire Families Directory to improve awareness and 

signposting to existing resources. The introduction of digital interventions  for parents 

will be piloted in Winter 2021 as part of the DWP Work Force Development Grant 

alongside training for community practitioners and family support workers.  

 

8.0 Early Help Triage and Family Information Service 

 

The Early Help Triage Team consists of 1 Team manager, 1 Advanced Practitioner and 

6FTE practitioners, oversee requests for early help from a range of sources including: 

professionals, MASH and parents. Work is progressing to incorporate Early Help Triage 

(EHT) within the Children s single point of access (C-SPA) in order to reduce potential 

delay in children and families receiving the appropriate service when contacts need to 

receive a Social Care response as an outcome following Early Help Triage.  

 

The Family Information Service (FIS) consists of 1 team manager, 1 senior FIS advisor 

and 2 FTE practitioners who provide impartial information on a range of subjects 

including childcare availability and funding, finances, family support, activities, 

parenting and education including support for children and young people with SEND. 

Page 85



 

8 
 

Along with statutory duties around early years and childcare the service also manages 

the GlosFamilies Directory and Local Offer for children with disabilities. 

 

9.0     Family Group Conferencing Service 

 

The Family Group Conferencing (FGC) Service consists of 15.5 Posts (Team Manager (1 

fte), Senior FGC Coordinators (1.5fte) and FGC Coordinators (13fte).  The appointment 

of an experienced manager in 2019, with significant experience of delivering FGC’s 

elsewhere, has brought a sharper focus to the FGC Service. There are now a range of 

meetings provided by the service including: Family Group Conferences; Family Network 

Meetings; Safety and Support Planning Meetings; Restorative Meetings and Emergency 

Network Meetings. 

 

In the period March 2020 – April 2021 a total of 513 referrals led to 277 meetings being 

held, the majority of which were FGC’s (163). The model for delivering full family group 

conferences is a traditional model which takes  4- 6 weeks set up time prior to the FGC 

happening with direct contact made with all family members attending. The team 

exceeded the numbers of FGC’s delivered during the pandemic when compared with 

previous years.  

 

In September 2021 we undertook a review of referrals closed in March 2021 to 
understand the legal and living status 6 months later. Of the 34 closures in March 2021, 
17 (50%) had a family meeting. Of the families that had a meeting, as of September 
2021: 

 

• 23% had a child who avoided coming into care or who returned to the family 
network from care. 

• 64% reduced their social care involvement (including 29% now closed to social 
care and Early Help) 

• 35% had the same legal status (level of social care/Early Help involvement 

• 0% of families who had a family meeting had increased their social care 
involvement 

• 0% of families who had a family meeting six months ago had a child who was at 
home who is now in care 

 

 

10.0     Family First Family Support Teams  

 

The GCC Family Support Teams comprises of 58 fte  practitioners, with work undertaken 

on a locality basis.  Direct working with families aims to stabilise and support families at 

the earliest opportunity preventing escalation to statutory services. Systemically 

trained practitioners offer more targeted/ in-depth systemic interventions, often 

alongside family support work. The approach incorporates learning from systemic 

practice, trauma informed practice, Gloucestershire’s graduated pathway and the 

Page 86



 

9 
 

Government’s Supporting Families Programme approach of “whole family” 

interventions.   

 

Referrals to Family Support Work teams originate from step downs from Childrens 

Social Care, partner referrals through the Front Door and self-referrals from families. 

Our Family Support Teams lead on Level 3 work using My Plan/My Plan Plus and 

contribute to Level 4 cases open to statutory safeguarding teams. Currently there are 

684 children from 317 families open to family support workers. Of these, 238 children 

are currently open to a social worker- level 4 (35% of open families). 446 children are 

open at level 3. Of the 446 children open at level 3, 361 children are registered as having 

a My Plan/+, with 67 due within timescale. 18 children are overdue equating to 4%. 

These children are all receiving intervention to prevent an escalation into Statutory 

services. All Family Support Workers work towards the Supporting Families Outcome 

Framework enabling families to achieve significant and sustained improvements. 

 

2112 children were closed to family support teams in the 12 months prior to this report.  

Of those, 78% were closed because their needs were met. Of those children closed in 

the past 12 months, 496 of them were children who were open to Social Care at the 

same time.  Of those level 4 interventions, 72% were closed to family support because 

their needs were met 

 

Of the children closed in the past year due to having their needs met, 63% of those 

achieved the outcomes agreed on the family plan in 6 months or less.  A review of all 

children closed to GCC family support in Q1 of 2021 demonstrates that 93% of children 

closed following family support have not needed social care interventions since closure. 

 

GCC FSW teams host social work apprentices, nurturing the next generation of locally 

grown social workers and feedback from Practice Educator is extremely positive with 

regard to the knowledge and skills of the apprentices 

 

Prior to the Covid-19 pandemic GCC Family Support Work teams delivered a wider menu 

of interventions including:  

• boys and girls groups to targeted groups of young people, often in partnership 

with schools, the course addresses social and emotional issues including healthy 

relationships etc. 

• Trauma Recovery Toolkit – a trauma informed approach to help parents and 

children to manage the residual impact of trauma. 

Plans to return to face to face delivery of these programs/interventions are under constant 

review and we aim to make them available as soon as it is safe to do so, within COVID safe 

measures. 

 

 

  

Page 87



 

10 
 

11.0     Children’s and Family Centres 

Gloucestershire delivers a targeted family support service for children pre-birth to 11 

yrs. and their families, from 16 Children and Families Centres (which are designated 

children centres). The universal and targeted services provided in and around our 

Childrens Centres are a key part of our early help provision for children and families in 

the county. Together with FFT they provide a pre-birth to 19 yrs. family support service 

as part of our multi-agency early help arrangements.  The C and F Centres also play a 

key role in our Supporting Families (prev Troubled Families) Programme which in Q1 

achieved 144% of target, with 183 families making significant and sustained progress 

against agreed outcomes. 

The 16 Children and Family centres are managed by two providers which are Barnardos 

and Gardner’s Lane and Oakwood Federation (GLOW). All centres have continued to 

deliver despite COVID-19 by being flexible and creative in their  approach to working 

with our vulnerable families. This includes remote working, doorstep and garden visits, 

in home visits as well as meeting families in-centre. 

 

1717 children were closed to externally commissioned C&FCs in the past 12 months.  Of 

those, 77% were closed because their needs were met.  Of those, 48% had their needs 

met in under 6 months, 

 

Of the 1717 children, 459 were open for a level 4 intervention alongside Childrens Social 

Care (27%).  Of those, 78% were closed because needs were met.  Of those, 49% had 

their needs met through an intervention lasting under 6 months. 

 

  

12.0     Supporting Families Programme 

 

The Supporting Families (SF) programme (previously Troubled Families) began in 2012, 

with Phase 2 (the ‘expanded programme’) running between 2015 and 2020. The 

programme was then further extended until March 2022. The programme is funded by 

central government through the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 

Communities (DLUHC).  

 

Gloucestershire’s Supporting Families Programme has been generally high performing 

and the SF Programme is somewhat integrated into the Early Help Offer, there is a 

strategic plan for the coming year to further integrate the SF programme with the wider 

Early Help Partnership. This will be led by the newly appointed Supporting Families 

Service Manager who will provide a clear strategic direction and focus on progress 

against the achievement of agreed outcomes and drive further system change and 

development in Early Help (as outlined in the Early Help System Guide). 

 

Page 88



 

11 
 

The Supporting Families Programme contributes significant funding into the Early Help 

and Targeted Support service and resources at a number of points in the system.  There 

are 2 DWP Employment Advisors who work alongside EH and TS Services to support 

families making progress towards employment.  In the current year, at the end of Q2 

we have successfully worked with 373 families as part of the Supporting Families 

programme which equates to 72% of our yearly target.  

 

In the previous 12 months we have worked with 1043 families on the SF programme, of 

these families 718 achieved significant and sustained progress. This gives 

Gloucestershire a success rate (aka conversation rate) in the top end of national rates. 

In Gloucestershire we also have higher percentage at 10% of families achieving 

continuous employment compared to the national average of 8%.  

 

 

Page 89



 

12 
 

Appendix 1 – Levels of Intervention Guidance 

 
  

 
 
 

gloucestershire-revi

sed-loi-guidance-v8-july-2021.pdf
 

 
  

Page 90



 

13 
 

 
Appendix 2 – Practice Guide 

 

 

Early help practice 

guidance  updated Oct 19.pdf
 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



Children and Families Scrutiny Committee
Draft work programme 2022

Date of meeting Proposed reports Additional Information 

13 January 2022 Widening Participation – Gloucestershire Grammar 
Schools

Performance Report
Quality Assurance Framework 
Accelerated Improvement Plan
Revenue Monitoring Report

10 March 2022 Verbal update on the Ofsted ILACS Inspection – Chris 

Domestic Violence and Children

Early Intervention and Prevention 

Exclusions – where are we now (from Sept Mtg) 

26 May 2022 Youth Offending Service – to gain an overview of the 
service and on initiatives like Children First can support 
diverting young people away from crime

Improvement Board Update 
Accelerated Improvement Plan 
Quality Assurance Framework
Performance Report quarter 4 
Revenue Monitoring Report 

14 July 2022 Adoption West – how does the process work? 

Fostering 

Improvement Board Update 

P
age 93

A
genda Item

 8



Children and Families Scrutiny Committee
Draft work programme 2022

Accelerated Improvement Plan 

15 September 2022 Education – how can children and young people be 
inspired to achieve. 

Family Hubs

Alternative Provision 
Improvement Board Update?
Accelerated Improvement Plan 
Performance Report 
Quality Assurance Framework – 
Revenue Monitoring Report

24 November 2022 Annual Safeguarding Report : Annual Update

Agreed work plan items to date: 

 The outcome of the Ofsted Inspection (this should be an extraordinary meeting (single issue), and should be after council has 
considered the report unless advised otherwise)

 Regional Schools Commissioner – would be useful to plan an extraordinary meeting with the RSC on Academisation. 
 Alternative provision
 Peer to peer violence and Gangs – it would be helpful if the Ambassadors could scope out this item indicating expected outcomes.
 Bright Spots survey results – when available

Other issues to be scheduled
 Care Leavers - APPG (All Party Parliamentary Group) for Looked After Children and Care Leavers Spotlight Inquiry (report available 

here https://becomecharity.org.uk/media/3029/appg-for-looked-after-children-and-care-leavers-spotlight-inquiry.pdf ) - The committee 
may wish to discuss the findings/recommendations of this report with the Ambassadors.

 The Government’s Independent Review of Children’ Social Care - this is due to report in a few weeks. The Committee may wish to 
consider this, particularly within the context of the council’s recent Ofsted Inspection; are there any specific learning opportunities for 
Gloucestershire? (https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/independent-review-of-childrens-social-care) 

P
age 94

https://becomecharity.org.uk/media/3029/appg-for-looked-after-children-and-care-leavers-spotlight-inquiry.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/independent-review-of-childrens-social-care


Children and Families Scrutiny Committee
Draft work programme 2022

 Child Friendly Gloucestershire 
 ACEs
 Children on the edge of care
 Youth Service Provision 

Development/Briefing Sessions (held virtually and not in public)

 Learning from Serious Case Reviews
 Transition from Children’s to Adult Services – joint with Adult Care Scrutiny. To be scheduled. 
 Special Education Needs – White Paper
 Academisation
 School Admissions/Transport

P
age 95



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Domestic Abuse
	10467 GCC_Domestic Abuse Strategy_Final

	6 School Exclusions - What is the picture in Gloucestershire
	7 Gloucestershire Early Help
	8 Committee Workplan

